NIKE INC

Form 10-O

April 07, 2015

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended February 28, 2015

" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to Commission file number-001-10635

NIKE, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

OREGON 93-0584541
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

One Bowerman Drive,

97005-6453

Beaverton, Oregon

(Zip Code)

(Address of principal executive offices)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (503) 671-6453

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes b No "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes b No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filerb

Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer " (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller Reporting Company" Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange

Act). Yes "No b

Shares of Common Stock outstanding as of April 2, 2015 were:

Class A 177,557,876 Class B 682,189,679 859,747,555

Table of Contents

NIKE, INC. FORM 10-Q Table of Contents

PART I - FINAN	NCIAL INFORMATION	Page
ITEM 1.	<u>Financial Statements</u>	<u>3</u>
	<u>Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets</u>	<u>3</u>
	<u>Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income</u>	<u>4</u>
	<u>Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income</u>	<u>5</u>
	<u>Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows</u>	<u>6</u>
	Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	<u>6</u> 7
ITEM 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>21</u>
ITEM 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	<u>37</u>
ITEM 4.	Controls and Procedures	<u>37</u>
<u>PART II - OTHI</u>	ER INFORMATION	
ITEM 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	<u>39</u>
ITEM 1A.	Risk Factors	<u>39</u>
ITEM 2.	<u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	<u>39</u>
ITEM 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	<u>39</u>
	<u>Signatures</u>	<u>40</u>

Table of Contents

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Financial Statements

NIKE, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

	February 28,	May 31,
(In millions)	2015	2014
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and equivalents (Note 4)	\$3,015	\$2,220
Short-term investments (Note 4)	2,346	2,922
Accounts receivable, net	3,294	3,434
Inventories (Note 2)	4,246	3,947
Deferred income taxes (Note 5)	328	355
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Notes 4 and 8)	1,978	818
Total current assets	15,207	13,696
Property, plant and equipment, net	2,862	2,834
Identifiable intangible assets, net	281	282
Goodwill	131	131
Deferred income taxes and other assets (Notes 4, 5 and 8)	2,060	1,651
TOTAL ASSETS	\$20,541	\$18,594
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 4)	\$108	\$7
Notes payable (Note 4)	61	167
Accounts payable	1,821	1,930
Accrued liabilities (Notes 3, 4 and 8)	3,563	2,491
Income taxes payable (Note 5)	33	432
Total current liabilities	5,586	5,027
Long-term debt (Note 4)	1,082	1,199
Deferred income taxes and other liabilities (Notes 4, 5 and 8)	1,505	1,544
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)		
Redeemable preferred stock		_
Shareholders' equity:		
Common stock at stated value		
Class A convertible — 178 and 178 shares outstanding		
Class B — 682 and 692 shares outstanding	3	3
Capital in excess of stated value	6,517	5,865
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 9)	1,111	85
Retained earnings	4,737	4,871
Total shareholders' equity	12,368	10,824
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY	\$20,541	\$18,594
The accommon vine Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statement	:	. 1 £ 41.

The accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

Table of Contents

NIKE, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income

	Three Mor	nths Ended	Nine Mont	hs Ended
	February 2	28,	February 2	8,
(In millions, except per share data)	2015	2014	2015	2014
Revenues	\$7,460	\$6,972	\$22,822	\$20,374
Cost of sales	4,034	3,869	12,348	11,313
Gross profit	3,426	3,103	10,474	9,061
Demand creation expense	731	733	2,394	2,155
Operating overhead expense	1,648	1,436	4,903	4,163
Total selling and administrative expense	2,379	2,169	7,297	6,318
Interest expense (income), net	6	9	24	25
Other (income) expense, net	(5) 45	_	86
Income before income taxes	1,046	880	3,153	2,632
Income tax expense (Note 5)	255	198	745	637
NET INCOME	\$791	\$682	\$2,408	\$1,995
Earnings per common share:				
Basic	\$0.92	\$0.77	\$2.79	\$2.25
Diluted	\$0.89	\$0.75	\$2.72	\$2.19
Dividends declared per common share	\$0.28	\$0.24	\$0.80	\$0.69

The accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

Table of Contents

NIKE, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

	Three Mor	nths Ended	Nine Mon	nths Ended	
	February 2	28,	February	28,	
(In millions)	2015	2014	2015	2014	
Net income	\$791	\$682	\$2,408	\$1,995	
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:					
Change in net foreign currency translation adjustment	15	(34) (17) (51)
Change in net gains (losses) on cash flow hedges	569	(21) 1,037	(186)
Change in net gains (losses) on other	2	(2) 6	(4)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	586	(57) 1,026	(241)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	\$1,377	\$625	\$3,434	\$1,754	

The accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

Table of Contents

NIKE, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

NIKE, The Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows			
	Nine Mo	nths Ended	
	February	28,	
(In millions)	2015	2014	
Cash provided by operations:			
Net income	\$2,408	\$1,995	
Income charges (credits) not affecting cash:			
Depreciation	453	378	
Deferred income taxes	43	(56)
Stock-based compensation (Note 6)	140	131	
Amortization and other	28	53	
Net foreign currency adjustments	411	59	
Changes in certain working capital components and other assets and liabilities:			
(Increase) in accounts receivable	(109) (255)
(Increase) in inventories	(510) (349)
(Increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets	(31) (222)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and income taxes payable	505	(49)
Cash provided by operations	3,338	1,685	
Cash used by investing activities:	- /	,	
Purchases of short-term investments	(3,754) (4,235)
Maturities of short-term investments	2,624	2,885	,
Sales of short-term investments	1,718	789	
Investments in reverse repurchase agreements	(250) —	
Additions to property, plant and equipment	(723) (670)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment	3	1	,
(Increase) in other assets, net of other liabilities		(1)
Cash used by investing activities	(382) (1,231	í
Cash used by financing activities:	(302) (1,231	,
Long-term debt payments, including current portion	(5) (58)
(Decrease) increase in notes payable	(83) 37	,
Payments on capital lease obligations	(16) (9)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and other stock issuances	372	308	,
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements	150	108	
Repurchase of common stock	(1,855) (1,716)
Dividends — common and preferred	(658) (587)
Cash used by financing activities	(2,095) (1,917)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents	(66) (10)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents	795	(1,473)
Cash and equivalents, beginning of period	2,220	3,337	,
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD	\$3,015	\$1,864	
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:	Ψ5,015	Ψ1,00+	
Non-cash additions to property, plant and equipment	\$95	\$117	
Dividends declared and not paid	241	211	
The accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Stateme			ic

The accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

Table of Contents

Notes to the	he Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	
Note 1	Summary of Significant Accounting Policies	<u>8</u>
Note 2	<u>Inventories</u>	<u>10</u>
Note 3	Accrued Liabilities	<u>11</u>
Note 4	Fair Value Measurements	<u>11</u>
Note 5	Income Taxes	<u>13</u>
Note 6	Stock-Based Compensation	<u>14</u>
Note 7	Earnings Per Share	<u>15</u>
Note 8	Risk Management and Derivatives	<u>15</u>
Note 9	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income	<u>18</u>
Note 10	Operating Segments	<u>19</u>
Note 11	Commitments and Contingencies	<u>20</u>
7		

Table of Contents

NOTE 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all normal adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of the results of operations for the interim period. The year-end Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet data as of May 31, 2014 was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The interim financial information and notes thereto should be read in conjunction with the Company's latest Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results of operations for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the entire year.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to fiscal 2015 presentation.

Revisions

During the third quarter of fiscal 2015, management determined it had incorrectly reflected unrealized gains and losses from re-measurement of non-functional currency intercompany balances between certain of its foreign wholly-owned subsidiaries in its Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. These unrealized gains and losses should have been classified as non-cash reconciling items from Net income to Cash provided by operations, but were instead reported on the Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents line of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, This resulted in an understatement of Cash provided by operations reported on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for certain prior periods; there was no impact for any period to Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents reported on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, or Cash and equivalents reported on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and Balance Sheets. The Company assessed the materiality of the misclassifications on prior periods' financial statements in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 99, Materiality, codified in Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 250, Presentation of Financial Statements, and concluded that these misstatements were not material to any prior annual or interim periods. Accordingly, in accordance with ASC 250 (SAB No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements), the amounts have been revised in the applicable Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For the three and six months ended August 31, 2014 and November 30, 2014 of fiscal 2015, the revisions increased Cash provided by operations and decreased Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents by \$95 million and \$312 million, respectively. For the nine months ended February 28, 2014 of fiscal 2014, the revision increased Cash provided by operations and decreased Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents by \$17 million. For the fiscal years ended May 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the revisions increased Cash provided by operations and decreased Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents by \$10 million, \$64 million and \$108 million, respectively. These amounts have been reflected in the applicable tables below. As part of the revision to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, the Company has updated its presentation to separately report Net foreign currency adjustments, which was previously included within Amortization and other.

Previously Disclosed Revisions

As previously reported, the Company has historically capitalized costs associated with internally generated patents and trademarks and amortized these assets over the legal term of the patents and trademarks. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, management determined that these capitalized costs were not accurately identified with specific patent or trademark assets and, therefore, concluded that amounts previously capitalized should have been expensed as incurred. Accordingly, the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been revised to correctly expense costs associated with internally developed patents and trademarks in the period incurred and to reverse expenses for amortization of previously capitalized costs. The revisions resulted in a decrease in Net income of \$3 million and \$7 million for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2014, respectively. Cash provided by operations decreased \$15 million while Cash used by investing activities decreased \$15 million for the nine months ended February 28, 2014.

Also, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, the Company revised certain prior year amounts in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows to eliminate intercompany transfers of short-term investments, to correctly reflect the purchases, sales and maturities of short-term investments related to the Company's hedging

program involving U.S. Dollar denominated available-for-sale securities and to correctly classify certain investment holdings as Short-term investments. For the nine months ended February 28, 2014, the revisions resulted in a net increase in Purchases of short-term investments of \$89 million, a net decrease in Maturities of short-term investments of \$145 million and a net increase in Sales of short-term investments of \$234 million. This revision had no impact on Cash used by investing activities or Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents.

The Company assessed the materiality of these misstatements on prior periods' financial statements in accordance with SAB No. 99, Materiality, codified in ASC 250, Presentation of Financial Statements, and concluded that these misstatements were not material to any prior annual or interim periods. Accordingly, the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as of February 28, 2014, and for the three and nine months then ended, which are presented herein, have been revised.

Table of Contents

The following are selected line items from the Company's Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements illustrating the effect of these corrections and the correction of other immaterial errors:

Third quarter of fiscal 2014 (presented herein for comparative purposes):

	NIKE, Inc. U				olidate	d Staten	nents of	f Iı	ncome	
	Three Months 2014	s Ended Fo	ebr	uary 28,	Nine I	Months	Ended	Fe	ebruary 28, 20)14
(In millions, except per share data)	As Reported	Adjustme	ent	As Revised	As Re	ported	Adjust	m	ent As Revis	sed
Total selling and administrative expense	\$2,166	\$3		\$2,169	\$6,31	0	\$8		\$6,318	
Income before income taxes	883	(3)	880	2,640		(8) 2,632	
Income tax expense	198	<u> </u>	`	198	638	2	(1) 637	
NET INCOME	\$685	\$(3)	\$682	\$2,00	2	\$(7) \$1,995	
Earnings per common share:										
Basic	\$0.78	\$(0.01	-	\$0.77	\$2.26		\$(0.01) \$2.25	
Diluted	\$0.76	\$(0.01		\$0.75	\$2.20		\$(0.01) \$2.19	
	NIKE, Inc. U Income	naudited (Cor	ndensed Cons	olidate	d Stater	ments o	f C	Comprehensiv	/e
	Three Month 2014	s Ended F	ebr	ruary 28,	Nine l	Months	Ended	Fe	ebruary 28, 20)14
(In millions)	As Reported	Adjustm	ent	As Revised	As Re	ported	Adjus	tm	ent As Revis	sed
Net income	\$685	\$(3)	\$682	\$2,00	2	\$(7) \$1,995	
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE	\$628	\$(3)	\$625	\$1,76	1	\$(7) \$1,754	
INCOME	Ψ020	Ψ(3	,				•			
				•				se	d Consolidate	ed
				Statemer				20	2014	
(In maillian a)				Nine Mo			-	28		
(In millions)				As Repo	rtea	Adjust	tment		As Revised	
Cash provided by operations: Net income				\$2,002		\$(7		`	\$1,995	
Income charges (credits) not affecting	r cash·			\$2,002		Ψ(1		,	Ψ1,773	
Amortization and other	5 Cusii.			102		(49)	53	
Net foreign currency adjustments				_		59			59	
(Increase) in inventories				(343)	(6)	(349)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payab	ole, accrued lia	bilities and	d	(54)	5			(49)
income taxes				`	,				•	,
Cash provided by operations				1,683		2			1,685	
Cash used by investing activities:				(4.146	`	(00		`	(4.225	`
Purchases of short-term investments Maturities of short-term investments				(4,146)	(89)	(4,235)
Sales of short-term investments				3,030 555		(145 234)	2,885 789	
	·liabilitias			(16)	254 15			(1	`
(Increase) in other assets, net of other Cash used by investing activities	Habilities			(1,246)				(1,231)
Effect of exchange rate changes on ca	sch and equival	lante		7	,	(17)	(1,231) (10))
Net increase (decrease) in cash and ed	_	101110		(1,473)	(1/		,	(1,473)
Cash and equivalents, beginning of pe	•			3,337	,				3,337	,
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, END				\$1,864		\$ —			\$1,864	
				+ 1,001		7			,	

First and second quarters of fiscal 2015 (to be presented in Forms 10-Q for the first and second quarters of fiscal 2016 for comparative purposes):

	NIKE, Inc. U	naudited Cor	ndensed Cons	olidated Stater	nents of Cash	ı Flows
	Three Months	s Ended Aug	ust 31, 2014	Six Months E	Ended Novem	ber 30, 2014
(In millions)	As Reported	Adjustment	As Revised	As Reported	Adjustment	As Revised
Cash provided by operations:						
Net income	\$962	\$ —	\$962	\$1,617	\$	\$1,617
Income charges (credits) not						
affecting cash:						
Amortization and other	(34)	42	8	(54)	69	15
Net foreign currency adjustments		53	53		243	243
Cash provided by operations	588	95	683	1,235	312	1,547
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents	97	(95)	2	288	(312)	(24)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents	83	_	83	53	_	53
Cash and equivalents, beginning of period	2,220	_	2,220	2,220	_	2,220
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD	\$2,303	\$—	\$2,303	\$2,273	\$—	\$2,273

The following are selected line items from the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements illustrating the effect of these corrections on the amounts previously reported in the Company's fiscal 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K:

these corrections on the			-			nents of Ca			1 2014 AII	пиат Керо.	It oll Foll	111 1	10-K.	
	Year End	ed May	31,	2014		Year End	led May	31	2013	Year End	led May	31,	2012	
(In millions)	As Reported	Adjusti	mei	nt Revised	i	As Reported	Adjust	me	As Revised	As Reported	Adjustr	ner	As Revised	d
Cash provided by operations:	\$2.602	¢.		Φ 2 (02		ΦΩ 470	φ.		ФО 470	Φ2.211	¢.		\$2.211	
Net income Income charges (credits) not affecting	\$2,693	\$ —		\$2,693		\$2,472	\$ —		\$2,472	\$2,211	\$ —		\$2,211	
cash:														
Amortization and other	114	(46)	68		66	(2)	64	23	45		68	
Net foreign currency adjustments	_	56		56		_	66		66	_	63		63	
Cash provided by operations	3,003	10		3,013		2,968	64		3,032	1,824	108		1,932	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents	1	(10)	(9)	100	(64)	36	67	(108)	(41)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and equivalents Cash and	(1,117)	_		(1,117)	1,083	_		1,083	377	_		377	
equivalents, beginning of year	3,337	_		3,337		2,254	_		2,254	1,877			1,877	
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS,	\$2,220	\$ —		\$2,220		\$3,337	\$ —		\$3,337	\$2,254	\$ —		\$2,254	

END OF YEAR

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued an accounting standards update that replaces existing revenue recognition guidance. Among other things, the updated guidance requires companies to recognize revenue in a way that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new guidance is effective for the Company beginning June 1, 2017 and early adoption is not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect the guidance will have on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

NOTE 2 — Inventories

Inventory balances of \$4,246 million and \$3,947 million at February 28, 2015 and May 31, 2014, respectively, were substantially all finished goods.

Table of Contents

NOTE 3 — Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities included the following:

	As of February 28,	As of May 31,
(In millions)	2015	2014
Compensation and benefits, excluding taxes	\$849	\$782
Collateral received from counterparties to hedging instruments	769	
Endorsement compensation	315	328
Dividends payable	241	209
Taxes other than income taxes	237	204
Fair value of derivatives	167	85
Advertising and marketing	126	133
Import and logistics costs	111	127
Other ⁽¹⁾	748	623
TOTAL ACCRUED LIABILITIES	\$3,563	\$2,491

⁽¹⁾ Other consists of various accrued expenses with no individual item accounting for more than 5% of the total Accrued liabilities balance at February 28, 2015 and May 31, 2014.

NOTE 4 — Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, including derivatives and available-for-sale securities. Fair value is the price the Company would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction with a market participant at the measurement date. The Company uses the three-level hierarchy established by the FASB that prioritizes fair value measurements based on the types of inputs used for the various valuation techniques (market approach, income approach and cost approach).

The levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; these include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data available, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability. Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the most conservative level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Pricing vendors are utilized for certain Level 1 and Level 2 investments. These vendors either provide a quoted market price in an active market or use observable inputs without applying significant adjustments in their pricing. Observable inputs include broker quotes, interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, volatilities and credit risks. The Company's fair value processes include controls that are designed to ensure appropriate fair values are recorded. These controls include a comparison of fair values to another independent pricing vendor.

The following tables present information about the Company's financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of February 28, 2015 and May 31, 2014, and indicate the level in the fair value hierarchy in which the Company classifies the fair value measurement.

	As of February			
(In millions)	Assets at Fair Value	Cash and Equivalents	Short-term Investments	Other Long-term Assets
Cash	\$778	\$778	\$ —	\$ —
Level 1:	1.017	75	0.42	
U.S. Treasury securities	1,017	75	942	
Level 2:				

Edgar Filing:	NIKE	INC -	Form	10-Q
---------------	------	-------	------	------

Time deposits	341	341		_	
U.S. Agency securities	904	110	794	_	
Commercial paper and bonds	785	175	610	_	
Money market funds	1,536	1,536	_		
Total Level 2:	3,566	2,162	1,404	_	
Level 3:					
Non-marketable preferred stock	6	_	_	6	
TOTAL	\$5,367	\$3,015	\$2,346	\$6	
11					

Table of Contents

As of May	31, 2014
-----------	----------

(In millions)	Assets at Fair Value	Cash and Equivalents	Short-term Investments	Other Long-term Assets
Cash	\$780	\$780	\$ —	\$
Level 1:				
U.S. Treasury securities	1,137	151	986	
Level 2:				
Time deposits	227	227		_
U.S. Agency securities	1,027	25	1,002	_
Commercial paper and bonds	959	25	934	_
Money market funds	1,012	1,012		_
Total Level 2:	3,225	1,289	1,936	_
Level 3:				
Non-marketable preferred stock	7			7
TOTAL	\$5,149	\$2,220	\$2,922	\$7

The Company elects to record the gross assets and liabilities of its derivative financial instruments on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company's derivative financial instruments are subject to master netting arrangements that allow for the offset of assets and liabilities in the event of default or early termination of the contract. Any amounts of cash collateral received or posted related to these instruments associated with the Company's credit related contingent features are recorded in Cash and equivalents and Accrued liabilities, the latter of which would further offset against the Company's derivative asset balance (refer to Note 8 — Risk Management and Derivatives). Cash collateral received or posted related to the Company's credit related contingent features is presented in the Cash provided by operations component of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Any amounts of non-cash collateral received, such as securities, are not recorded on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets pursuant to the accounting standards for non-cash collateral received.

The following tables present information about the Company's derivative assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of February 28, 2015 and May 31, 2014, and indicate the level in the fair value hierarchy in which the Company classifies the fair value measurement.

	As of February 28, 2015					
	Derivative Assets			Derivative Liabilities		
(In millions)	Assets at Fair Value	Other Current Assets	Other Long-term Assets	Liabilities at Fair Value	Accrued Liabilities	Other Long-term Liabilities
Level 2:						
Foreign exchange forwards and options ⁽¹⁾	\$1,459	\$1,005	\$454	\$195	\$167	\$ 28
Embedded derivatives	1	1	_	_		
Interest rate swaps ⁽²⁾	47	47		_	_	
TOTAL	\$1,507	\$1,053	\$454	\$195	\$167	\$ 28

If the foreign exchange derivative instruments had been netted on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, the asset and liability positions each would have been reduced by \$193 million as of February 28, 2015. As (1) of that date, the Company had received \$736 million of cash collateral and \$77 million of securities from various counterparties related to these foreign exchange derivative instruments. No amount of collateral was posted on the Company's derivative liability balance as of February 28, 2015.

(2) As of February 28, 2015, the Company had received \$33 million of cash collateral related to its interest rate swaps.

	As of May	31, 2014				
	Derivative Assets			Derivative Liabilities		
(In millions)	Assets at	Other	Other	Liabilities	Accrued	Other
	Fair Value	Current	Long-term	at Fair	Liabilities	Long-term

Edgar Filing: NIKE INC - Form 10-Q

		Assets	Assets	Value		Liabilities
Level 2:						
Foreign exchange forwards and options ⁽¹⁾	\$127	\$101	\$ 26	\$85	\$84	\$ 1
Interest rate swaps ⁽¹⁾	6		6	_		
TOTAL	\$133	\$101	\$32	\$85	\$84	\$ 1

If the foreign exchange derivative instruments had been netted on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, the asset and (1) liability positions each would have been reduced by \$63 million as of May 31, 2014. No amounts of collateral were received or posted on the Company's derivative assets and liabilities as of May 31, 2014.

Available-for-sale securities comprise investments in U.S. Treasury and Agency securities, money market funds, corporate commercial paper and bonds. These securities are valued using market prices on both active markets (Level 1) and less active markets (Level 2). The gross realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale securities were immaterial for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities included in Other comprehensive income were immaterial as of February 28, 2015 and May 31, 2014.

Table of Contents

The Company regularly reviews its available-for-sale securities for other-than-temporary impairment. For the nine months ended February 28, 2015 the Company did not consider any of its securities to be other-than-temporarily impaired and accordingly, did not recognize any impairment losses.

As of February 28, 2015, the Company held \$1,727 million of available-for-sale securities with maturity dates within one year from the purchase date and \$619 million with maturity dates over one year and less than five years from the purchase date within Short-term investments. As of May 31, 2014, the Company held \$2,287 million of available-for-sale securities with maturity dates within one year from the purchase date and \$635 million with maturity dates over one year and less than five years from the purchase date within Short-term investments. Included in Interest expense (income), net for each of the three months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014 was interest income related to the Company's available-for-sale securities of \$1 million and \$2 million, respectively, and \$4 million for each of the nine months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The Company's Level 3 assets comprise investments in certain non-marketable preferred stock. These Level 3 investments are an immaterial portion of the Company's portfolio. Changes in Level 3 investment assets were immaterial during the nine months ended February 28, 2015 and the year ended May 31, 2014.

Derivative financial instruments include foreign exchange forwards and options, embedded derivatives and interest rate swaps. Refer to Note 8 — Risk Management and Derivatives for additional detail.

No transfers among the levels within the fair value hierarchy occurred during the nine months ended February 28, 2015.

As of February 28, 2015 and May 31, 2014, the Company had no assets or liabilities that were required to be measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Not Recorded at Fair Value

The Company's long-term debt is recorded at adjusted cost, net of amortized premiums and discounts and interest rate swap fair value adjustments. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based upon quoted prices for similar instruments or quoted prices for identical instruments in inactive markets (Level 2). The fair value of the Company's long-term debt, including the current portion, was approximately \$1,198 million at February 28, 2015 and \$1,154 million at May 31, 2014.

The carrying amounts reflected on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets for Notes payable approximate fair value.

At February 28, 2015 the Company had \$250 million of outstanding receivables related to its investments in reverse repurchase agreements recorded within Prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. The carrying amount of these agreements approximates their fair value based upon observable inputs other than quoted prices (Level 2). The reverse repurchase agreements are fully collateralized. NOTE 5 — Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 23.6% and 24.2% for the nine month periods ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The decrease in the Company's effective tax rate was primarily due to the resolution of audits in several jurisdictions, an increase in the proportion of earnings from operations outside of the United States, which are generally subject to a lower tax rate, and the retroactive reinstatement of the U.S. research and development tax credit. These factors were partially offset by the impact of tax expense on intercompany transactions.

As of February 28, 2015, total gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding related interest and penalties, were \$444 million, \$252 million of which would affect the Company's effective tax rate if recognized in future periods. As of May 31, 2014, total gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding related interest and penalties, were \$506 million. The liability for payment of interest and penalties did not change during the nine months ended February 28, 2015. As of February 28, 2015 and May 31, 2014, accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions were \$167 million (excluding federal benefit).

The Company is subject to taxation primarily in the United States, China, the Netherlands and Brazil, as well as various other state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is currently under audit by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for the 2012 through 2014 tax years. The Company has closed all U.S. federal income tax matters through fiscal 2011, with the exception of the validation of foreign tax credits utilized. During the current period, the IRS issued a statutory notice of deficiency for fiscal 2011 proposing an increase in tax of \$31 million, subject to

interest, related to the foreign tax credit matter. This notice also reported a decrease in foreign tax credit carryovers for fiscal 2010 and 2011. The Company does not expect the outcome of this matter to have a material impact on the financial statements. The Company intends to contest this deficiency notice by filing a petition with the U.S. Tax Court. No payments on the assessment would be required until the dispute is definitively resolved. Based on the information currently available, the Company does not anticipate a significant increase or decrease to its unrecognized tax benefits for this matter within the next 12 months.

The Company's major foreign jurisdictions, China, the Netherlands and Brazil, have concluded substantially all income tax matters through calendar 2005, fiscal 2009 and calendar 2008, respectively. Although the timing of resolution of audits is not certain, the Company evaluates all domestic and foreign audit issues in the aggregate, along with the expiration of applicable statutes of limitations, and estimates that it is reasonably possible the total gross unrecognized tax benefits could decrease by up to \$38 million within the next 12 months.

NOTE 6 — Stock-Based Compensation

In 1990, the Board of Directors adopted, and the shareholders approved, the NIKE, Inc. 1990 Stock Incentive Plan (the "1990 Plan"). The 1990 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 326 million previously unissued shares of Class B Common Stock in connection with stock options and other awards granted under the 1990 Plan. The 1990 Plan authorizes the grant of non-statutory stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance-based awards. The exercise price for stock options and stock appreciation rights may not be less than the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of grant. A committee of the Board of Directors administers the 1990 Plan. The committee has the authority to determine the employees to whom awards will be made, the amount of the awards and the other terms and conditions of the awards. Substantially all stock option grants outstanding under the 1990 Plan were granted in the first quarter of each fiscal year, vest ratably over four years and expire 10 years from the date of grant.

In addition to the 1990 Plan, the Company gives employees the right to purchase shares at a discount to the market price under employee stock purchase plans ("ESPPs"). Employees are eligible to participate through payroll deductions of up to 10% of their compensation. At the end of each 6-month offering period, shares are purchased by the participants at 85% of the lower of the fair market value at the beginning or the end of the offering period. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation by estimating the fair value of options granted under the 1990 Plan and employees' purchase rights under the ESPPs using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company recognizes this fair value as Operating overhead expense over the vesting period using the straight-line method. The following table summarizes the Company's total stock-based compensation expense recognized in Operating overhead expense:

	Three Months Ended February		Nine Months Ended Februar	
	28,		28,	
(In millions)	2015	2014	2015	2014
Stock options ⁽¹⁾	\$35	\$32	\$100	\$93
ESPPs	5	5	17	16
Restricted stock	8	6	23	22
TOTAL STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE	\$48	\$43	\$140	\$131

Expense for stock options includes the expense associated with stock appreciation rights. Accelerated stock option expense is recorded for employees eligible for accelerated stock option vesting upon retirement. Accelerated stock (1) option expense for the three month periods ended February 28, 2015 and 2014 was \$5 million and \$3 million, respectively, and for the nine month periods ended February 28, 2015 and 2014 was \$14 million and \$11 million, respectively.

As of February 28, 2015, the Company had \$216 million of unrecognized compensation costs from stock options, net of estimated forfeitures, to be recognized in Operating overhead expense over a weighted average remaining period of 2.2 years.

The weighted average fair value per share of the options granted during the nine month periods ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, as computed using the Black-Scholes pricing model, was \$16.94 and \$14.88, respectively. The weighted average assumptions used to estimate these fair values are as follows:

	Nine Months Ended February 28		
	2015	2014	
Dividend yield	1.2	% 1.3	%
Expected volatility	23.6	% 27.9	%
Weighted average expected life (in years)	5.8	5.3	
Risk-free interest rate	1.7	% 1.3	%

The Company estimates the expected volatility based on the implied volatility in market traded options on the Company's common stock with a term greater than one year, along with other factors. The weighted average expected life of options is based on an analysis of historical and expected future exercise patterns. The interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury (constant maturity) risk-free rate in effect at the date of grant for periods corresponding with the

expected term of the options.

NOTE 7 — Earnings Per Share

The following is a reconciliation from basic earnings per common share to diluted earnings per common share. The computation of diluted earnings per common share omitted options to purchase an additional 0.1 million and 0.1 million shares of common stock outstanding for the three month periods ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and options to purchase an additional 0.1 million and 0.0 million shares of common stock outstanding for the nine month periods ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively, because the options were anti-dilutive.

	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended	
	February 28,		February 28,	
(In millions, except per share data)	2015	2014	2015	2014
Determination of shares:				
Weighted average common shares outstanding	861.4	882.3	863.2	886.6
Assumed conversion of dilutive stock options and awards	22.4	22.5	22.3	22.5
DILUTED WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING	883.8	904.8	885.5	909.1
Earnings per common share:				
Basic	\$0.92	\$0.77	\$2.79	\$2.25
Diluted	\$0.89	\$0.75	\$2.72	\$2.19

NOTE 8 — Risk Management and Derivatives

The Company is exposed to global market risks, including the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, and uses derivatives to manage financial exposures that occur in the normal course of business. The Company does not hold or issue derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

The Company may elect to designate certain derivatives as hedging instruments under the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging. The Company formally documents all relationships between designated hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives designated as hedges to either recognized assets or liabilities or forecasted transactions.

The majority of derivatives outstanding as of February 28, 2015 are designated as cash flow hedges primarily for Euro/U.S. Dollar, British Pound/Euro and Japanese Yen/U.S. Dollar currency pairs. All derivatives are recognized on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet at fair value and classified based on the instrument's maturity date.

The following table presents the fair values of derivative instruments included within the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of February 28, 2015 and May 31, 2014:

	Derivative Assets			Derivative Liabilities		
(In millions)	Balance Sheet Location	February 28, 2015	May 31, 2014	Balance Sheet Location	February 28, 2015	May 31, 2014
Derivatives formally designated as hedging instruments:						
Foreign exchange forwards and options	Prepaid expenses and other current assets Prepaid	\$762	\$76	Accrued liabilities	\$141	\$57
Interest rate swaps	expenses and other current assets	47	_	Accrued liabilities	_	_
Foreign exchange forwards and options	Deferred	454	26	Deferred income taxes and other	28	1

Interest rate swaps	and other assets Deferred income taxes and other assets	_	6	liabilities Deferred income taxes and other liabilities	_	_
Total derivatives formally designated as hedging instruments Derivatives not designated as		1,263	108		169	58
hedging instruments:						
	Prepaid					
Foreign exchange forwards and options	assets	243	25	Accrued liabilities	26	27
Embedded derivatives	Prepaid expenses and other current assets	1	_	Accrued liabilities	_	_
Total derivatives not	assets					
designated as		244	25		26	27
hedging instruments TOTAL DERIVATIVES		\$1,507	\$133		\$195	\$85
15						

Table of Contents

The following tables present the amounts affecting the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014:

	Amount of Ga Recognized in Comprehensiv Derivatives ⁽¹⁾	Other	Amount of Gain (Loss) Reclassified From Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income into Income ⁽¹⁾			
(In millions)	Three Months Ended February 28, 2015	Nine Months Ended February 28, 2015	Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified From Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income into Income	Three Months Ended February 28, 2015	Nine Months Ended February 28, 2015	
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:	h					
Foreign exchange forwards and options	\$(146)	\$(188)	Revenues	\$(17)	\$(53)	
Foreign exchange forwards and options	547	946	Cost of sales	74	87	
Foreign exchange forwards and options	_	_	Total selling and administrative expense	_	_	
Foreign exchange forwards and options	277	417	Other (income) expense, net	42	60	
Interest rate swaps	44	44	Interest expense (income), net	_		
Total designated cash flow hedges	\$722	\$1,219		\$99	\$94	

For the three and nine months ended February 28, 2015, the amounts recorded in Other (income) expense, net as a (1) result of hedge ineffectiveness and the discontinuance of cash flow hedges because the forecasted transactions were no longer probable of occurring were immaterial.

	Amount of G Recognized i Comprehensi Derivatives ⁽¹⁾	in iv	Other		Amount of Gain (Loss) Reclassified From Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income into Income ⁽¹⁾							
(In millions)	Three Month Ended February 28, 2014		Nine Months Ended February 28, 2014		Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified From Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income into Income	Three Months Ended February 28, 2014		Nine Months Ended February 28, 2014				
Derivatives designated as cash	n											
flow hedges:												
Foreign exchange forwards and options	\$(20)	\$(39)	Revenues	\$(1)	\$20				
Foreign exchange forwards and options	(12)	(100)	Cost of sales	(5)	18				
Foreign exchange forwards and options	1		4		Total selling and administrative expense	_		_				
	(5)	(28)		(5)	6				

Foreign exchange forwards			Othe	er (income) expense,	
and options			net		
Total designated cash flow hedges	\$(36) \$(163)	\$(1	1) \$44

For the three and nine months ended February 28, 2014, the amounts recorded in Other (income) expense, net as a (1) result of hedge ineffectiveness and the discontinuance of cash flow hedges because the forecasted transactions were no longer probable of occurring were immaterial.

	Amount of	Gain (Los	ss)	d in Income	ie			
	on Derivati	ives				Location of Gain (Loss)		
	Three Mon	ths Ended		Nine Mont	hs Ended	Recognized in Income on		
	February 2	8,		February 2	8,	Derivatives		
(In millions)	2015	2014		2015	2014			
Derivatives designated as fair value								
hedges:								
Interest rate swaps ⁽¹⁾	\$1	\$1		\$3	\$3	Interest expense (income), net		
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:								
Foreign exchange forwards and options	\$278	\$(11)	\$556	\$(50)	Other (income) expense, net		
Embedded derivatives	\$2	\$1		\$3	\$—	Other (income) expense, net		

All interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges meet the shortcut method requirements under the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging. Accordingly, changes in the fair values of the interest rate swaps are considered to exactly offset changes in the fair value of the underlying long-term debt. Refer to "Fair Value Hedges" in this note for additional detail.

Refer to Note 3 — Accrued Liabilities for derivative instruments recorded in Accrued liabilities, Note 4 — Fair Value Measurements for a description of how the above financial instruments are valued and Note 9 — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income for additional information on changes in Other comprehensive income for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014.

Cash Flow Hedges

The purpose of the Company's foreign exchange risk management program is to lessen both the positive and negative effects of currency fluctuations on the Company's consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows. Foreign currency exposures that the Company may elect to hedge in this manner include product cost exposures, non-functional currency denominated external and intercompany revenues, selling and administrative expenses, investments in U.S. Dollar-denominated available-for-sale debt securities and certain other intercompany transactions. Product cost exposures are primarily generated through non-functional currency denominated product purchases and the foreign currency adjustment program described below. NIKE entities primarily purchase products in two ways: (1) Certain NIKE entities purchase product from the NIKE Trading Company ("NTC"), a wholly owned sourcing hub that buys NIKE branded products from third party factories, predominantly in U.S. Dollars. The NTC, whose functional currency is the U.S. Dollar, then sells the products to NIKE entities in their respective functional currencies. When the NTC sells to a NIKE entity with a different functional currency, the result is a foreign currency exposure for the NTC. (2) Other NIKE entities purchase product directly from third party factories in U.S. Dollars. These purchases generate a foreign currency exposure for those NIKE entities with a functional currency other than the U.S. Dollar. The Company operates a foreign currency adjustment program with certain factories. The program is designed to more effectively manage foreign currency risk by assuming certain of the factories' foreign currency exposures, some of which are natural offsets to the Company's existing foreign currency exposures. Under this program, the Company's payments to these factories are adjusted for rate fluctuations in the basket of currencies ("factory currency exposure index") in which the labor, materials and overhead costs incurred by the factories in the production of NIKE branded products ("factory input costs") are denominated. For the portion of the indices denominated in the local or functional currency of the factory, the Company may elect to place formally designated cash flow hedges. For all currencies within the indices, excluding the U.S. Dollar and the local or functional currency of the factory, an embedded derivative contract is created upon the factory's acceptance of NIKE's purchase order. Embedded derivative contracts are separated from the related purchase order, and their accounting treatment is described further below. The Company's policy permits the utilization of derivatives to reduce its foreign currency exposures where internal netting or other strategies cannot be effectively employed. Typically, the Company may enter into hedge contracts starting up to 12 to 24 months in advance of the forecasted transaction and may place incremental hedges up to 100% of the exposure by the time the forecasted transaction occurs. The total notional amount of outstanding foreign currency derivatives designated as cash flow hedges was \$10.7 billion as of February 28, 2015. During the three months ended February 28, 2015, the Company entered into a series of forward-starting interest rate swap agreements with a total notional amount of \$750 million. These instruments were designated as cash flow hedges of the variability in the expected cash outflows of interest payments on future debt due to changes in benchmark interest rates.

All changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, excluding any ineffective portion, are recorded in Other comprehensive income until Net income is affected by the variability of cash flows of the hedged transaction. In most cases, amounts recorded in Other comprehensive income will be released to Net income in periods following the maturity of the related derivative, rather than at maturity. Effective hedge results are classified within the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income in the same manner as the underlying exposure, with the results of hedges of non-functional currency denominated revenues and product cost exposures, excluding embedded derivatives as described below, recorded in Revenues or Cost of sales, when the underlying hedged transaction affects consolidated Net income. Results of hedges of selling and administrative expense are recorded together with those costs when the related expense is recorded. Amounts recorded in Other comprehensive income related to forward-starting interest rate swaps will be released through Interest expense (income), net over the term of the issued debt. Results of hedges of anticipated purchases and sales of U.S. Dollar-denominated available-for-sale securities are recorded in Other (income) expense, net when the securities are sold. Results of hedges of certain

anticipated intercompany transactions are recorded in Other (income) expense, net when the transaction occurs. The Company classifies the cash flows at settlement from these designated cash flow hedge derivatives in the same category as the cash flows from the related hedged items, primarily within the Cash provided by operations component of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Premiums paid on options are initially recorded as deferred charges. The Company assesses the effectiveness of options based on the total cash flows method and records total changes in the options' fair value to Other comprehensive income to the degree they are effective.

The Company formally assesses, both at a hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in the hedging transaction have been highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of hedged items and whether those derivatives may be expected to remain highly effective in future periods. Effectiveness for cash flow hedges is assessed based on changes in forward rates. Ineffectiveness was not material for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when: (1) it determines that the derivative is no longer highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of a hedged item (including hedged items such as firm commitments or forecasted transactions); (2) the derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised; (3) it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur; or (4) management determines that designating the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.

When the Company discontinues hedge accounting because it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur in the originally expected period, but is expected to occur within an additional two-month period of time thereafter, the gain or loss on the derivative remains in Accumulated other comprehensive income and is reclassified to Net income when the forecasted transaction affects consolidated Net income. However, if it is probable that a forecasted transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified time period or within an additional two-month period of time thereafter, the gains and losses that were accumulated in Other comprehensive income will be recognized immediately in Other (income) expense, net. In all situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued and the derivative remains outstanding, the Company will carry the derivative at its fair value on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, recognizing future changes in the fair value in Other (income) expense, net. For the three and nine months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, the amounts recorded in Other (income) expense, net as a result of the discontinuance of cash flow hedging because the forecasted transaction was no longer probable of occurring were immaterial.

Fair Value Hedges

As of February 28, 2015, \$577 million of deferred net gains (net of tax) on both outstanding and matured derivatives accumulated in Other comprehensive income were expected to be reclassified to Net income during the next 12 months concurrent with the underlying hedged transactions also being recorded in Net income. Actual amounts ultimately reclassified to Net income are dependent on the exchange rates in effect when derivative contracts that are currently outstanding mature. As of February 28, 2015, the maximum term over which the Company is hedging exposures to the variability of cash flows for its forecasted transactions was 27 months.

The Company is also exposed to the risk of changes in the fair value of certain fixed-rate debt attributable to changes in interest rates. Derivatives currently used by the Company to hedge this risk are receive-fixed, pay-variable interest rate swaps. All interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges of the related long-term debt meet the shortcut method requirements under the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging. Accordingly, changes in the fair values of the interest rate swaps are considered to exactly offset changes in the fair value of the underlying long-term debt. The cash flows associated with the Company's fair value hedges are periodic interest payments while the swaps are outstanding, which are reflected within the Cash provided by operations component of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The Company recorded no ineffectiveness from its interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2015 or 2014. As of February 28, 2015, interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges had a total notional amount of \$100 million.

Net Investment Hedges

The Company has, in the past, hedged and may, in the future, hedge the risk of variability in foreign-currency-denominated net investments in wholly owned international operations. All changes in fair value of the derivatives designated as net investment hedges, except ineffective portions, are reported in the cumulative translation adjustment component of Other comprehensive income along with the foreign currency translation adjustments on those investments. The Company classifies the cash flows at settlement of its net investment hedges within the Cash used by investing activities component of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The Company assesses hedge effectiveness based on changes in forward rates. The Company recorded no ineffectiveness from its net investment hedges for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2015 or 2014. The Company had no outstanding net investment hedges as of February 28, 2015.

Undesignated Derivative Instruments

The Company may elect to enter into foreign exchange forwards to mitigate the change in fair value of specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet and/or the embedded derivative contracts explained above. These forwards are not designated as hedging instruments under the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging. Accordingly, these undesignated instruments are recorded at fair value as a derivative asset or liability on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets with their corresponding change in fair value recognized in Other (income) expense, net, together with the re-measurement gain or loss from the hedged balance sheet position or embedded derivative contract. The Company classifies the cash flows at settlement from undesignated instruments in the same category as the cash flows from the related hedged items, generally within the Cash provided by operations component of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The total notional amount of outstanding undesignated derivative instruments was \$5.0 billion as of February 28, 2015.

Embedded Derivatives

As part of the foreign currency adjustment program described above, an embedded derivative contract is created upon the factory's acceptance of NIKE's purchase order for currencies within the factory currency exposure indices that are neither the U.S. Dollar nor the local or functional currency of the factory. Embedded derivative contracts are treated as foreign currency forward contracts that are bifurcated from the related purchase order and recorded at fair value as a derivative asset or liability on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets with their corresponding change in fair value recognized in Other (income) expense, net from the date a purchase order is accepted by a factory through the date the purchase price is no longer subject to foreign currency fluctuations. At February 28, 2015, the total notional amount of embedded derivatives outstanding was approximately \$151 million.

Credit Risk

The Company is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to hedging instruments. The counterparties to all derivative transactions are major financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings. However, this does not eliminate the Company's exposure to credit risk with these institutions. This credit risk is limited to the unrealized gains in such contracts should any of these counterparties fail to perform as contracted. To manage this risk, the Company has established strict counterparty credit guidelines that are continually monitored.

The Company's derivative contracts contain credit risk related contingent features designed to protect against significant deterioration in counterparties' creditworthiness and their ultimate ability to settle outstanding derivative contracts in the normal course of business. The Company's bilateral credit related contingent features generally require the owing entity, either the Company or the derivative counterparty, to post collateral for the portion of the fair value in excess of \$50 million should the fair value of outstanding derivatives per counterparty be greater than \$50 million. Additionally, a certain level of decline in credit rating of either the Company or the counterparty could also trigger collateral requirements. As of February 28, 2015, the Company was in compliance with all credit risk related contingent features and had derivative instruments with credit risk related contingent features in a net liability position of \$2 million. Accordingly, the Company was not required to post any collateral as a result of these contingent features. Further, as of February 28, 2015, the Company had received \$769 million of cash collateral and \$77 million of securities from various counterparties to its derivative contracts (refer to Note 4 — Fair Value Measurements). Given the considerations described above, the Company considers the impact of the risk of counterparty default to be immaterial.

NOTE 9 — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
The changes in Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, for the three and nine months ended February
28, 2015 were as follows:

(In millions)	Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment ⁽¹⁾	Cash Flow Hedges	Net Investment Hedges ⁽¹⁾	Other	Total
Balance at November 30, 2014	\$(23)	\$500	\$95	\$(47) \$525
Other comprehensive gains (losses) before reclassifications ⁽²⁾	15	661	_	15	691
Reclassifications to net income of previously deferred (gains) losses ⁽³⁾	_	(92)	_	(13) (105)
Other comprehensive income (loss)	15	569	_	2	586
Balance at February 28, 2015	\$(8)	\$1,069	\$95	\$(45) \$1,111

The accumulated foreign currency translation adjustment and net investment hedge gains/losses related to an (1) investment in a foreign subsidiary are reclassified to Net income upon sale or upon complete or substantially complete liquidation of the respective entity.

- (2) Net of tax benefit (expense) of \$(3) million, \$(61) million, \$0 million, \$(5) million and \$(69) million, respectively.
- (3) Net of tax (benefit) expense of \$0 million, \$7 million, \$0 million, \$4 million and \$11 million, respectively.

(In millions)	Currency Translation Adjustment ⁽¹⁾	Cash Flow Hedges	Net Investment Hedges ⁽¹⁾	Other	Total
Balance at May 31, 2014	\$9	\$32	\$95	\$(51) \$85
Other comprehensive gains (losses) before reclassifications ⁽²⁾	(17)	1,131		29	1,143
Reclassifications to net income of previously deferred (gains) losses ⁽³⁾	_	(94)	_	(23) (117)
Other comprehensive income (loss)	(17)	1,037		6	1,026
Balance at February 28, 2015	\$(8)	\$1,069	\$95	\$(45) \$1,111
(4) 551					

⁽¹⁾ The accumulated foreign currency translation adjustment and net investment hedge gains/losses related to an investment in a foreign subsidiary are reclassified to Net income upon sale or upon complete or substantially

complete liquidation of the respective entity.

- (2) Net of tax benefit (expense) of \$(3) million, \$(88) million, \$0 million, \$(8) million and \$(99) million, respectively.
- (3) Net of tax (benefit) expense of \$0 million, \$0 million, \$0 million, \$7 million and \$7 million, respectively.

The changes in Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2014 were as follows:

(In millions)	Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment ⁽¹⁾	Cash Flow Hedges	Net Investment Hedges ⁽¹⁾	Other	Total	
Balance at November 30, 2013	\$24	\$28	\$95	\$(57) \$90	
Other comprehensive gains (losses) before reclassifications ⁽²⁾	(34)	(31)	_	(3) (68)
Reclassifications to net income of previously deferred (gains) losses ⁽³⁾	_	10	_	1	11	
Other comprehensive income (loss)	(34)	(21)	_	(2) (57)
Balance at February 28, 2014	\$(10)	\$7	\$95	\$(59) \$33	

The accumulated foreign currency translation adjustment and net investment hedge gains/losses related to an (1) investment in a foreign subsidiary are reclassified to Net income upon sale or upon complete or substantially complete liquidation of the respective entity.

- (2) Net of tax benefit (expense) of \$0 million, \$5 million, \$0 million, \$0 million and \$5 million, respectively.
- (3) Net of tax (benefit) expense of \$0 million, \$(1) million, \$0 million, \$0 million and \$(1) million, respectively.

(In millions)	Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment ⁽¹⁾	Cash Flow Hedges	Net Investment Hedges ⁽¹⁾	Other	Total	
Balance at May 31, 2013	\$41	\$193	\$95	\$(55) \$274	
Other comprehensive gains (losses)	(51)	(151)	· —	(7) (209)
before reclassifications ⁽²⁾	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	,		`	,	
Reclassifications to net income of previously deferred (gains) losses ⁽³⁾	_	(35)	_	3	(32)
Other comprehensive income (loss)	(51)	(186	· —	(4) (241)
Balance at February 28, 2014	\$(10)	\$7	\$95	\$(59) \$33	

The accumulated foreign currency translation adjustment and net investment hedge gains/losses related to an (1) investment in a foreign subsidiary are reclassified to Net income upon sale or upon complete or substantially complete liquidation of the respective entity.

- (2) Net of tax benefit (expense) of \$0 million, \$12 million, \$0 million, \$0 million and \$12 million, respectively.
- (3) Net of tax (benefit) expense of \$0 million, \$9 million, \$0 million, \$0 million and \$9 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the reclassifications from Accumulated other comprehensive income to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Reclassified from

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income											
		Compre	ilclisive illcollic								
			N								
				` '							
Februar	February 28, F		ruary 28,	Reclassified from Accumulated Other							
2015	2014	201:	5 2014	Comprehensive Income into Income							
\$(17) \$(1) \$(53	3) \$20	Revenues							
74	(5) 87	18	Cost of sales							
42	(5) 60	6	Other (income) expense, net							
99	(11) 94	44								
(7) 1	_	(9)							
92	(10) 94	35								
17	(1) 30	(3) Other (income) expense, net							
17	(1) 30	(3)							
(4) —	(7) —								
13	(1) 23	(3)							
\$105	\$(11) \$11	7 \$32								
	into Inc Three M Februar 2015 \$(17 74 42 99 (7 92 17 17 (4 13	into Income Three Months Ended February 28, 2015 2014 \$(17) \$(1) 74 (5) 42 (5) 99 (11) (7) 1 92 (10) 17 (1) 17 (1) (4) — 13 (1)	into Income Three Months Ended February 28, 2015 2014 2015 \$(17) \$(1) \$(5) 74 (5) 87 42 (5) 60 99 (11) 94 (7) 1 92 (10) 94 17 (1) 30 17 (1) 30 (4) — (7 13 (1) 23	Three Months Ended February 28, February 28, February 28, 2015 2014 \$ (17) \$ (1) \$ (53) \$ 20 74 (5) 87 18 42 (5) 60 6 99 (11) 94 44 (7) 1 — (9 92 (10) 94 35 17 (1) 30 (3 17 (1) 30 (3 17 (1) 30 (3 17 (1) 23 (3							

NOTE 10 — Operating Segments

The Company's operating segments are evidence of the structure of the Company's internal organization. The NIKE Brand segments are defined by geographic regions for operations participating in NIKE Brand and Hurley sales activity.

Each NIKE Brand geographic segment operates predominantly in one industry: the design, development, marketing and selling of athletic footwear, apparel and equipment. The Company's reportable operating segments for the NIKE Brand are: North America, Western Europe, Central & Eastern Europe, Greater China, Japan and Emerging Markets.

The Company's NIKE Brand Direct to Consumer operations are managed within each geographic operating segment. Converse is also a reportable segment for NIKE, Inc., and operates in one industry: the design, marketing, licensing and selling of casual sneakers, apparel and accessories.

Global Brand Divisions is included within the NIKE Brand for presentation purposes to align with the way management views the Company. Global Brand Divisions primarily represent NIKE Brand licensing businesses that are not part of a geographic operating segment, demand creation and operating overhead expenses that are centrally managed for the NIKE Brand and costs associated with product development and supply chain operations. Corporate consists largely of unallocated general and administrative expenses, including expenses associated with centrally managed departments; depreciation and amortization related to the Company's headquarters; and unallocated insurance, benefit and compensation programs, including stock-based compensation; certain foreign currency gains and losses, including certain hedge gains and losses; certain corporate eliminations and other items.

The primary financial measure used by the Company to evaluate performance of individual operating segments is earnings before interest and taxes (commonly referred to as "EBIT"), which represents Net income before Interest expense (income), net and Income tax expense in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. Reconciling items for EBIT represent corporate expense items that are not allocated to the operating segments for management reporting.

As part of the Company's centrally managed foreign exchange risk management program, standard foreign currency rates are assigned twice per year to each NIKE Brand entity in the Company's geographic operating segments and Converse. These rates are set approximately nine months in advance of the future selling season based on average market spot rates in the calendar month preceding the date they are established. Inventories and Cost of sales for geographic operating segments and Converse reflect use of these standard rates to record non-functional currency product purchases in the entity's functional currency. Differences between assigned standard foreign currency rates and actual market rates are included in Corporate, together with foreign currency hedge gains and losses generated from the Company's centrally managed foreign exchange risk management program and other conversion gains and losses. Accounts receivable, net, Inventories and Property, plant and equipment, net for operating segments are regularly reviewed by management and are therefore provided below.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to fiscal 2015 presentation.

	Three Months Ended February		Nine Months Ended February				
	28,		28,				
(In millions)	2015	2014	2015	2014			
REVENUES							
North America	\$3,254	\$3,069	\$10,008	\$9,005			
Western Europe	1,416	1,292	4,442	3,667			
Central & Eastern Europe	319	356	1,057	1,017			
Greater China	801	697	2,238	1,900			
Japan	166	177	525	545			
Emerging Markets	955	937	2,964	2,869			
Global Brand Divisions	28	26	85	89			
Total NIKE Brand	6,939	6,554	21,319	19,092			
Converse	538	420	1,547	1,274			
Corporate	(17) (2	(44)	8			
TOTAL NIKE CONSOLIDATED REVENUES	\$7,460	\$6,972	\$22,822	\$20,374			
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES							
North America	\$830	\$729	\$2,585	\$2,189			
Western Europe	335	275	1,000	663			
Central & Eastern Europe	51	79	176	208			
Greater China	251	234	727	601			
Japan	22	21	62	92			
Emerging Markets	234	228	626	681			
Global Brand Divisions	(552) (528	(1,637)	(1,444)			
Total NIKE Brand	1,171	1,038	3,539	2,990			

Converse Corporate	163 (282)	133 (282)	437 (799)	402 (735)
Total NIKE Consolidated Earnings Before Interest and Taxes	`	,	889	,	3,177	,	2,657	,
Interest expense (income), net	6		9		24		25	
TOTAL NIKE CONSOLIDATED EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES	\$1,046		\$880		\$3,153		\$2,632	
19								

Table of Contents

	As of February 28,	As of May 31,	
(In millions)	2015	2014	
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET			
North America	\$1,546	\$1,505	
Western Europe	391	341	
Central & Eastern Europe	220	280	
Greater China	98	68	
Japan	95	162	
Emerging Markets	551	819	
Global Brand Divisions	90	71	
Total NIKE Brand	2,991	3,246	
Converse	290	171	
Corporate	13	17	
TOTAL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET	\$3,294	\$3,434	
INVENTORIES			
North America	\$2,146	\$1,758	
Western Europe	681	711	
Central & Eastern Europe	149	271	
Greater China	246	221	
Japan	123	94	
Emerging Markets	571	633	
Global Brand Divisions	26	18	
Total NIKE Brand	3,942	3,706	
Converse	219	261	
Corporate	85	(20)
TOTAL INVENTORIES	\$4,246	\$3,947	
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET			
North America	\$598	\$545	
Western Europe	411	384	
Central & Eastern Europe	42	51	
Greater China	240	232	
Japan	213	258	
Emerging Markets	102	115	
Global Brand Divisions	500	537	
Total NIKE Brand	2,106	2,122	
Converse	93	70	
Corporate	663	642	
TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET	\$2,862	\$2,834	
NOTE 11	• •	•	

NOTE 11 — Commitments and Contingencies

At February 28, 2015, the Company had letters of credit outstanding totaling \$158 million. These letters of credit were issued primarily for the purchase of inventory and guarantees of the Company's performance under certain self-insurance and other programs.

During the year ended May 31, 2013, the Company divested of Cole Haan. Preexisting guarantees of certain Cole Haan lease payments remained in place after the sale; the maximum exposure under the guarantees was \$26 million at February 28, 2015. The fair value of the guarantees is not material.

There have been no other significant subsequent developments relating to the commitments and contingencies reported on the Company's latest Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations In the third quarter of fiscal 2015, NIKE, Inc. Revenues increased 7% to \$7.5 billion. Excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange rates, Revenues increased 13%. For the third quarter of fiscal 2015, Net income was \$791 million and Diluted earnings per common share was \$0.89, 16% and 19% higher, respectively, than the third quarter of fiscal 2014.

Income before income taxes increased 19% compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2014 due to increases in revenues and gross margin, which more than offset higher selling and administrative expense. The NIKE Brand, which represents over 90% of NIKE, Inc. revenues, delivered constant currency revenue growth of 11%, reflecting higher revenues across all geographies, footwear and apparel and most key categories. Brand strength, innovative products and strong category focused retail presentation continued to drive demand for NIKE Brand products in the third quarter of fiscal 2015. Constant currency revenues for Converse increased 33%, driven in part by the timing of shipments in advance of a major systems go-live in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015, strong growth in comparable direct distribution markets, primarily the United States, and the conversion of markets from licensed to direct distribution.

Our third quarter effective tax rate increased 190 basis points versus the prior year period, driven primarily by the impact of tax expense on intercompany transactions, partially offset by the retroactive reinstatement of the U.S. research and development tax credit.

Diluted earnings per common share grew faster than net income due to a 2% decline in the weighted average diluted common shares outstanding, driven by our share repurchase program.

Results of Operations

-	Three Months Ended February 28,						Nine Months Ended February 28,					8,
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)	2015		$2014^{(1)}$		% Char	ige	2015		$2014^{(1)}$		% Cha	ınge
Revenues	\$7,460		\$6,972		7	%	\$22,822		\$20,374	ŀ	12	%
Cost of sales	4,034		3,869		4	%	12,348		11,313		9	%
Gross profit	3,426		3,103		10	%	10,474		9,061		16	%
Gross margin %	45.9	%	44.5	%			45.9	%	44.5	%		
Demand creation expense	731		733		0	%	2,394		2,155		11	%
Operating overhead expense	1,648		1,436		15	%	4,903		4,163		18	%
Total selling and administrative expense	2,379		2,169		10	%	7,297		6,318		15	%
% of Revenues	31.9	%	31.1	%			32.0	%	31.0	%		
Interest expense (income), net	6		9				24		25		_	
Other (income) expense, net	(5)	45				_		86			
Income before income taxes	1,046		880		19	%	3,153		2,632		20	%
Income tax expense	255		198		29	%	745		637		17	%
Effective tax rate	24.4	%	22.5	%			23.6	%	24.2	%		
Net income	\$791		\$682		16	%	\$2,408		\$1,995		21	%
Diluted earnings per common share	\$0.89		\$0.75		19	%	\$2.72		\$2.19		24	%

Prior year amounts have been revised to correctly expense internally developed patent and trademark costs as (1)incurred. Refer to Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Operating Results

Revenues

	Three Mo	Three Months Ended February 28,						Nine Months Ended February 28,					
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014	% Change % Excluding Change Currency Changes ⁽¹⁾		2015	2014	% Change		% Chan Excludi Currence Changes	ing			
NIKE, Inc. Revenues:													
NIKE Brand Revenues by:													
Footwear	\$4,570	\$4,216	8	%	14	%	\$13,537	\$11,806	15	%	17	%	
Apparel	1,959	1,893	3	%	9	%	6,481	5,974	8	%	11	%	
Equipment	382	419	-9	%	-3	%	1,216	1,223	-1	%	2	%	
Global Brand Divisions ⁽²⁾	28	26	8	%	13	%	85	89	-4	%	-5	%	
Total NIKE Brand Revenues	6,939	6,554	6	%	11	%	21,319	19,092	12	%	14	%	
Converse	538	420	28	%	33	%	1,547	1,274	21	%	24	%	
Corporate ⁽³⁾	(17)	(2)			_		(44)	8					
TOTAL NIKE, INC. REVENUES	\$7,460	\$6,972	7	%	13	%	\$22,822	\$20,374	12	%	15	%	
Supplemental NIKE Brand													
Revenues Details:													
NIKE Brand Revenues by:													
Sales to Wholesale Customers	\$5,227	\$5,169	1	%	7	%	\$16,367	\$15,186	8	%	10	%	
Sales Direct to Consumer	1,684	1,359	24	%	29	%	4,867	3,817	28	%	30	%	
Global Brand Divisions ⁽²⁾	28	26	8	%	13	%	85	89	-4	%	-5	%	
TOTAL NIKE BRAND REVENUES	\$6,939	\$6,554	6	%	11	%	\$21,319	\$19,092	12	%	14	%	

Results have been restated using actual exchange rates in use during the comparative period to enhance the (1) visibility of the underlying business trends by excluding the impact of translation arising from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

Global Brand Divisions revenues primarily represent NIKE Brand licensing businesses that are not part of a geographic segment.

Corporate revenues primarily consist of foreign currency revenue-related hedge gains and losses generated by (3) entities within the NIKE Brand geographic operating segments and Converse through our centrally managed foreign exchange risk management program.

Excluding the effects of changes in currency exchange rates, NIKE, Inc. Revenues grew 13% and 15% for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, driven by increases in revenues for both the NIKE Brand and Converse. On a currency neutral basis, every NIKE Brand geography delivered higher revenues for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, as our category offense continued to deliver innovative products, deep brand connections and compelling retail experiences to consumers. North America contributed approximately 3 percentage points and 5 percentage points of the increase in NIKE, Inc. Revenues for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively. For both the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, Western Europe contributed approximately 4 percentage points of NIKE, Inc. revenue growth, and Greater China, Emerging Markets and Converse each contributed approximately 2 percentage points.

The constant currency increase in NIKE Brand footwear revenues for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 was driven by growth in most key categories, led by Sportswear and Basketball, partially offset by a decline in Running. The decline in our Running category was concentrated in North America and due to lower sales of entry level products, which were partially offset by higher sales of higher priced performance styles. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, footwear revenue growth was due to growth in nearly every key category, most notably Sportswear, Basketball, Football (Soccer) and Running. In the third quarter of fiscal 2015, unit sales of footwear increased 5% while increases

in average selling price per pair contributed approximately 9 percentage points of footwear revenue growth. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, unit sales of footwear increased 9% and increases in average selling price per pair contributed approximately 8 percentage points of footwear revenue growth. The increase in average selling price per pair in both the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven primarily by shifts in mix to higher priced products, and to a lesser extent, the favorable impact of growth in our higher priced Direct to Consumer ("DTC") business.

Excluding the effects of changes in currency exchange rates, the increase in NIKE Brand apparel revenues for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was attributable to growth in most key categories, led by Sportswear, Running and Women's Training, partially offset by a decline in Football (Soccer) in both periods. The decline in Football (Soccer) was largely attributable to comparisons versus strong sales in the prior year periods in advance of the World Cup. For the third quarter, unit sales of apparel increased 5% and increases in average selling price per unit contributed approximately 4 percentage points of apparel revenue growth. The increase in average selling price per unit for the third quarter was driven primarily by growth in our higher priced DTC business. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, unit sales of apparel increased 8% and increases in average selling price per unit contributed approximately 3 percentage points of apparel revenue growth. The increase in average selling price per unit for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven by increased revenues from our higher priced DTC business, and to a lesser extent, shifts in mix to higher priced products.

While wholesale revenues remain the largest component of overall NIKE Brand revenues, we continue to expand our NIKE Brand DTC distribution in each of our geographies. Our NIKE Brand DTC operations include NIKE-owned in-line and factory stores, as well as online sales through NIKE-owned websites. For the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, DTC revenues represented approximately 24% and 23% of our total NIKE Brand revenues, respectively, compared to 21% and 20% in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2014, respectively. On a currency neutral basis, DTC revenues grew 29% in the third quarter, driven by strong comparable store sales growth of 16%, online sales growth and the addition of new stores. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, constant currency DTC revenues grew 30% due to comparable store sales growth of 15%, the addition of new stores and online sales growth. Comparable store sales include revenues from NIKE-owned in-line and factory stores for which all three of the following requirements have been met: (1) the store has been open at least one year, (2) square footage has not changed by more than 15% within the past year and (3) the store has not been permanently repositioned within the past year. On a currency neutral basis, online sales through NIKE-owned websites, which are not included in comparable store sales, grew 46% and 58% in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively. Online sales represented approximately 21% and 18% of our total NIKE Brand DTC revenues for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, compared to 19% and 14% for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2014, respectively.

Futures Orders

Futures orders for NIKE Brand footwear and apparel scheduled for delivery from March 2015 through July 2015 totaled \$11.2 billion and were 2% higher than the orders reported for the comparable prior year period. The U.S. Dollar futures orders amount is calculated based upon our internal forecast of the currency exchange rates under which our revenues will be translated during this period. Excluding the impact of currency changes, futures orders increased 11%, with unit orders and average selling price per unit contributing approximately 5 and 6 percentage points of growth, respectively.

By geography, futures orders growth was as follows:

	Reported Futures Orders		Excluding Curre Changes ⁽¹⁾	ency
North America	15	%	15	%
Western Europe	-14	%	7	%
Central & Eastern Europe	-1	%	21	%
Greater China	22	%	23	%
Japan	-4	%	13	%
Emerging Markets	-17	%	-6	%
TOTAL NIKE BRAND FUTURES ORDERS	2	%	11	%

(1) Reported futures have been restated using prior year exchange rates for the comparative period to enhance the visibility of the underlying business trends, excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. The reported futures orders growth is not necessarily indicative of our expectation of revenue growth during this period. This is due to year-over-year changes in shipment timing, changes in the mix of orders between futures and at-once orders and because the fulfillment of certain orders may fall outside of the schedule noted above. In addition, exchange rate fluctuations as well as differing levels of order cancellations, discounts and returns can cause differences in the comparisons between futures orders and actual revenues. Moreover, a portion of our revenue is not derived from futures orders, including at-once and closeout sales of NIKE Brand footwear and apparel, sales of NIKE Brand equipment, sales from our DTC operations and sales from Converse, NIKE Golf and Hurley.

23

Futures Orders

Gross Margin

	Three Mont	ths Ended Febi	ruary 28,	Nine Months	ruary 28,		
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014	% Change	2015	2014	% Chang	ge
Gross profit	\$3,426	\$3,103	10 %	\$10,474	\$9,061	16	%
Gross margin %	45.9 %	6 44.5 %	140 bps	45.9 %	44.5	% 140	bps

For both the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, our consolidated gross margin was 140 basis points higher than the respective prior year periods, primarily driven by the following factors:

Higher NIKE Brand average net selling prices (increasing gross margin approximately 240 basis points for both the third quarter and first nine months) primarily due to a shift in mix to higher priced products and, to a lesser extent, increased prices, in part in response to inflationary conditions in certain territories;

Higher NIKE Brand product costs (decreasing gross margin approximately 150 basis points for the third quarter and 200 basis points for the first nine months) due primarily to labor input cost inflation and a shift in mix to higher cost products;

Lower other costs (increasing gross margin 20 basis points for the third quarter and 40 basis points for the first nine months) due to lower inventory obsolescence costs, partially offset by higher warehousing expenses, primarily due to additional investments in infrastructure in North America;

Growth in our higher margin DTC business (increasing gross margin 10 basis points for the third quarter and 30 basis points for the first nine months); and

Foreign currency exchange rates, including hedges, had an insignificant impact on gross margin for the third quarter, but increased gross margin approximately 20 basis points for the first nine months.

Total Selling and Administrative Expense

	Three Months Ended February 28,						Nine Months Ended February 28,					
(Dollars in millions)	2015		2014		% Ch	ange	2015		2014		% Chang	ge
Demand creation expense ⁽¹⁾	\$731		\$733		0	%	\$2,394		\$2,155		11	%
Operating overhead expense ⁽²⁾	1,648		1,436		15	%	4,903		4,163		18	%
Total selling and administrative	\$2,379		\$2,169		10	%	\$7.297		\$6,318		15	%
expense	$\Psi 2,377$		Ψ2,10)		10	70	Ψ1,271		Ψ0,510		13	70
% of Revenues	31.9	%	31.1	%	80	bps	32.0	%	31.0	%	100 bps	

- (1) Demand creation consists of advertising and promotion expenses, including costs of endorsement contracts. Prior year amounts have been revised to correctly expense internally developed patent and trademark costs as
- (2) incurred. Refer to Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Demand creation expense was flat for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 as increased digital brand marketing and sports marketing expenses were offset by lower advertising expense, in part due to the timing of product launches versus the prior year. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, Demand creation expense increased 11% primarily due to expenses for digital brand marketing, brand events and consumer events, including those related to the World Cup in the first quarter of fiscal 2015, as well as increased marketing support for our DTC business. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates decreased the growth in Demand creation expense by approximately 5 percentage points and 2 percentage points, respectively, for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015.

Operating overhead expense increased 15% and 18% in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, versus the comparable prior year periods. The increase in both periods was due primarily to growth in our DTC business, continued investments in operational infrastructure and consumer-focused digital capabilities, as well as higher performance based compensation. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates decreased the growth in Operating overhead expense by approximately 4 percentage points and 2 percentage points, respectively, for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015.

Other (Income) Expense, Net

	Three Months E	Ended February	Nine Months Ended February				
	28,		28,				
(In millions)	2015	2014	2015	2014			

Other (income) expense, net \$(5) \$45 \$— \$86

Other (income) expense, net comprises foreign currency conversion gains and losses from the re-measurement of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies and the impact of certain foreign currency derivative instruments, as well as unusual or non-operating transactions that are outside the normal course of business. For the third quarter of fiscal 2015, Other (income) expense, net shifted from \$45 million of other expense, net in the prior year to \$5 million of other income, net primarily due to a \$53 million net change in foreign currency conversion gains and losses. Other expense, net for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 decreased \$86 million primarily due to a \$73 million decrease in net foreign currency conversion losses as well as an adverse legal judgment in the prior year related to a bankruptcy case for a former customer in Western Europe.

We estimate the combination of the translation of foreign currency-denominated profits from our international businesses and the year-over-year change in foreign currency related gains and losses included in Other (income) expense, net had unfavorable impacts of approximately \$20 million and approximately \$27 million on our Income before income taxes for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively.

Table of Contents

Income Taxes

	Three Mo	onths Ended F	February 28,	Nine Months Ended February 28,					
	2015	2014	% Change	2015	2014	% Change			
Effective tax rate	24.4	% 22.5	% 190 bps	23.6	% 24.2	% (60) bps			

Our effective tax rate for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 was 190 basis points higher than the prior year period primarily due to the impact of tax expense on intercompany transactions, partially offset by the retroactive reinstatement of the U.S. research and development tax credit.

Our effective tax rate for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 was 60 basis points lower than the prior year period due to the resolution of audits in several jurisdictions, an increase in the proportion of earnings from operations outside of the United States, which are generally subject to a lower tax rate and the retroactive reinstatement of the U.S. research and development tax credit. The decrease was partially offset by the impact of tax expense on intercompany transactions.

For the full fiscal year, we continue to expect the effective tax rate will be approximately 24.5%.

Operating Segments

Our reportable operating segments are evidence of the structure of the Company's internal organization. The NIKE Brand segments are defined by geographic regions for operations participating in NIKE Brand and Hurley sales activity.

Each NIKE Brand geographic segment operates predominantly in one industry: the design, development, marketing and selling of athletic footwear, apparel and equipment. The Company's reportable operating segments for the NIKE Brand are: North America, Western Europe, Central & Eastern Europe, Greater China, Japan and Emerging Markets. The Company's NIKE Brand DTC operations are managed within each geographic segment. Converse is also a reportable segment for NIKE, Inc., and operates in one industry: the design, marketing, licensing and selling of casual sneakers, apparel and accessories.

As part of our centrally managed foreign exchange risk management program, standard foreign currency rates are assigned twice per year to each NIKE Brand entity in our geographic operating segments and Converse. These rates are set approximately nine months in advance of the future selling season based on average market spot rates in the calendar month preceding the date they are established. Inventories and Cost of sales for geographic operating segments and Converse reflect use of these standard rates to record non-functional currency product purchases into the entity's functional currency. Differences between assigned standard foreign currency rates and actual market rates are included in Corporate together with foreign currency hedge gains and losses generated from our centrally managed foreign exchange risk management program and other conversion gains and losses.

The breakdown of revenues is as follows:

	Three Mo	onths Ended	d Februar	8,		Nine Months Ended February 28,						
					% Chan	ige					% Chan	ıge
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014	% Chan	σe	Excludi	ng	2015	2014	% Chan	σe	Excludi	ing
(Donars in infinons)	2013	2014	70 Citan	gc	Currenc	-		2014	70 Chan	50	Currenc	•
					Change	$s^{(1)}$					Change	$2s^{(1)}$
North America	\$3,254	\$3,069	6	%	6	%	\$10,008	\$9,005	11	%	11	%
Western Europe	1,416	1,292	10	%	21	%	4,442	3,667	21	%	23	%
Central & Eastern Europe	319	356	-10	%	7	%	1,057	1,017	4	%	13	%
Greater China	801	697	15	%	17	%	2,238	1,900	18	%	19	%
Japan	166	177	-6	%	8	%	525	545	-4	%	5	%
Emerging Markets	955	937	2	%	12	%	2,964	2,869	3	%	12	%
Global Brand Divisions ⁽²⁾	28	26	8	%	13	%	85	89	-4	%	-5	%
Total NIKE Brand	6.020	6 551	6	01	1.1	01	21 210	10.002	10	01	1.4	01
Revenues	6,939	6,554	6	%	11	%	21,319	19,092	12	%	14	%
Converse	538	420	28	%	33	%	1,547	1,274	21	%	24	%
Corporate ⁽³⁾	(17)	(2)					(44)	8				
TOTAL NIKE, INC.	¢7.460	¢ (072	7	01	12	07	¢22.022	¢20.274	10	01	1.5	07
REVENUES	\$7,460	\$6,972	/	%	13	%	\$22,822	\$20,374	12	%	15	%

Results have been restated using actual exchange rates in use during the comparative period to enhance the (1) visibility of the underlying business trends by excluding the impact of translation arising from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

(2) Global Brand Divisions revenues primarily represent NIKE Brand licensing businesses that are not part of a geographic segment.

Corporate revenues primarily consist of foreign currency revenue-related hedge gains and losses generated by (3) entities within the NIKE Brand geographic operating segments and Converse through our centrally managed foreign exchange risk management program.

The primary financial measure used by the Company to evaluate performance of individual operating segments is earnings before interest and taxes (commonly referred to as "EBIT"), which represents Net income before Interest expense (income), net and Income tax expense in the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. As discussed in Note 10 — Operating Segments in the accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated

Financial Statements, certain corporate costs are not included in EBIT of our operating segments.

The breakdown of earnings before interest and taxes is as follows:

	Three Months Ended February 28,						Nine Months Ended February 28,					,
(Dollars in millions)	2015		$2014^{(1)}$		% Char	nge	2015		$2014^{(1)}$		% Char	nge
North America	\$830		\$729		14	%	\$2,585		\$2,189		18	%
Western Europe	335		275		22	%	1,000		663		51	%
Central & Eastern Europe	51		79		-35	%	176		208		-15	%
Greater China	251		234		7	%	727		601		21	%
Japan	22		21		5	%	62		92		-33	%
Emerging Markets	234		228		3	%	626		681		-8	%
Global Brand Divisions	(552)	(528)	-5	%	(1,637)	(1,444)	-13	%
Total NIKE Brand	1,171		1,038		13	%	3,539		2,990		18	%
Converse	163		133		23	%	437		402		9	%
Corporate ⁽²⁾	(282)	(282)	0	%	(799)	(735)	-9	%
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED												
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND	1,052		889		18	%	3,177		2,657		20	%
TAXES												
Interest expense (income), net	6		9		_		24		25			
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED INCOME	\$1,046		\$880		19	%	\$3,153		\$2,632		20	%
BEFORE INCOME TAXES	ψ1,040		ψοσο		17	10	$\psi J, IJJ$		Ψ4,034		20	10

⁽¹⁾ Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to fiscal 2015 presentation. These changes had no impact on previously reported results of operations or shareholders' equity.

North America

	•					Nine Months Ended February 28,						
(Dollars in millions)	2015 2014		2014 % Change		% Change Excludin 2015 Currency Changes		2014	% Chang		Cur	inge luding rency inges	
Revenues by:												
Footwear	\$2,081	\$1,928	8	%	8	%	\$6,189	\$5,459	13	%	14	%
Apparel	987	925	7	%	7	%	3,223	2,920	10	%	11	%
Equipment	186	216	-14	%	-14	%	596	626	-5	%	-5	%
TOTAL REVENUES	\$3,254	\$3,069	6	%	6	%	\$10,008	\$9,005	11	%	11	%
Revenues by:												
Sales to Wholesale Customers	\$2,378	\$2,308	3	%	3	%	\$7,427	\$6,818	9	%	9	%
Sales Direct to Consumer	876	761	15	%	15	%	2,581	2,187	18	%	18	%
TOTAL REVENUES	\$3,254	\$3,069	6	%	6	%	\$10,008	\$9,005	11	%	11	%
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES	\$830	\$729	14	%			\$2,585	\$2,189	18	%		

North America revenues for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 increased 6% and 11%, respectively, driven by growth in most key categories, led by Basketball and Sportswear. During the third quarter, our North America business was affected by congestion at ports on the West Coast of the United States, which affected the Company's supply chain, reducing revenue growth and increasing inventories. On a constant currency basis, DTC revenue grew 15% for the third quarter as a result of strong online sales growth, comparable store sales growth of 7% and the addition of new stores. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, DTC revenue grew 18%, driven by a 9%

Prior year amounts have been revised to correctly expense internally developed patent and trademark costs as

⁽²⁾ incurred. Refer to Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

increase in comparable store sales, online sales growth and the addition of new stores.

Footwear revenue growth for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven by increases in most key categories, led by Basketball and Sportswear, partially offset by a decline in Running. The decrease in Running for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was due to lower sales of entry level products, which were partially offset by increased sales of higher priced performance styles. For the third quarter, unit sales of footwear decreased 2%, partly due to the West Coast port congestion, while increases in average selling price per pair contributed approximately 10 percentage points of footwear revenue growth. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, unit sales of footwear increased 5% and average selling price per pair contributed approximately 9 percentage points of footwear revenue growth. The increase in average selling price per pair for both periods was primarily driven by a shift in mix to higher priced products and, to a lesser extent, price increases.

Apparel revenue growth for the third quarter and first nine months was driven by strong demand in most key categories, most notably Sportswear, Women's Training and Running; Men's Training also contributed to apparel revenue growth for the year-to-date period. For the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, unit sales of apparel increased 2% and 7%, respectively, while increases in average selling price per unit contributed approximately 5 and 4 percentage points of apparel revenue growth in the respective periods. The increase in average selling price per unit for the third quarter was due primarily to growth in our higher priced DTC business. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, the increase in average selling price per unit was driven primarily by a shift in mix to higher priced products and the favorable impact of our higher priced DTC business.

EBIT grew 14% for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 as a result of higher revenues, gross margin expansion and selling and administrative expense leverage. Gross margin increased 140 basis points as shifts in mix to higher priced products, improved off-price margins and lower inventory obsolescence costs were only partially offset by higher product input and logistics costs. Selling and administrative expense was lower as a percent of revenues despite higher operating overhead costs to support DTC growth, as well as investments in infrastructure and higher performance based compensation. Demand creation expense decreased due primarily to the timing of product launches as compared to the prior year period, partially offset by higher digital brand marketing expense.

For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, EBIT grew 18%, reflecting the same key drivers as the third quarter. Gross margin expanded 130 basis points, reflecting a shift in mix to higher priced products, partially offset by higher product and logistics costs. Selling and administrative expense decreased as a percent of sales, despite higher operating overhead costs, primarily as a result of increased support for our growing DTC business and higher compensation costs. Demand creation expense also increased to support key brand and sporting events, including the World Cup in the first quarter, as well as higher sports marketing and digital brand marketing expenses. Western Europe

•	Three Months Ended February 28,						Nine Months Ended February 28,						
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014	% Chan	% Change		2015	2014	% Change		% Chan Excludi Currenc Change	ing cy		
Revenues by:													
Footwear	\$986	\$891	11	%	22	%	\$2,976	\$2,415	23	%	26	%	
Apparel	363	338	7	%	18	%	1,245	1,061	17	%	19	%	
Equipment	67	63	6	%	16	%	221	191	16	%	17	%	
TOTAL REVENUES	\$1,416	\$1,292	10	%	21	%	\$4,442	\$3,667	21	%	23	%	
Revenues by:													
Sales to Wholesale	\$1,100	\$1,047	5	0%	16	0%	\$3,514	\$2,992	17	0%	19	%	
Customers	φ1,100	φ1,047	3	70	10	10	Φ3,314	Ψ2,992	1 /	70	19	70	
Sales Direct to Consumer	316	245	29	%	40	%	928	675	37	%	40	%	
TOTAL REVENUES	\$1,416	\$1,292	10	%	21	%	\$4,442	\$3,667	21	%	23	%	
EARNINGS BEFORE	\$335	\$275	22	%			\$1,000	\$663	51	%			
INTEREST AND TAXES	ψυυυ	Ψ413	<i>44</i>	10			ψ1,000	φ003	<i>J</i> 1	10			

Our ongoing expansion of the category offense in Western Europe continues to drive increased demand for NIKE Brand products. On a currency neutral basis, revenues for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 grew in every territory in Western Europe. The growth in both periods was led by AGS (Austria, Germany and Switzerland) and the U.K. & Ireland, which increased 26% and 22%, respectively, for the third quarter, and 28% and 22%, respectively, for the first nine months of fiscal 2015. On a category basis, revenues grew in every key category for the third quarter, most notably Sportswear, Women's Training and Running. Revenues for the first nine months also increased in every key category, driven primarily by Sportswear, Football (Soccer), Running and Women's Training. DTC revenues grew 40% in both the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015. DTC revenue growth for the third quarter was driven by online sales growth, 19% comparable store sales growth and the addition of new stores. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, DTC growth was fueled by comparable store sales growth of 17%, increased online sales and the addition of new stores.

Constant currency footwear revenue growth for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven by growth in every key category, most notably Sportswear. For the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, unit sales of footwear increased 18% and 21%, respectively, while increases in average selling price per pair contributed approximately 4 and 5 percentage points of footwear revenue growth in the respective periods. The increase in average selling price per pair in both periods was driven approximately equally by a shift in mix to higher priced products and the favorable impact of growth in our higher priced DTC business.

The constant currency apparel revenue growth for the third quarter was driven by growth in nearly every key category, most notably Sportswear, Running and Women's Training. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, apparel revenue growth was led by our Sportswear, Football (Soccer), Women's Training and Running categories. Unit sales of apparel increased 14% and 16% for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, and increases in average selling price per unit contributed approximately 4 and 3 percentage points of apparel revenue growth for the respective periods. The increase in average selling price per unit for the third quarter was due to a shift in mix to higher priced products, as well as growth in our higher priced DTC business. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, the increase in average selling price per unit was primarily driven by an increase in revenues from our higher priced DTC business.

Despite the negative translation impact from changes in currency exchange rates, most notably the Euro, EBIT increased 22% for the third quarter of fiscal 2015, driven by higher reported revenues, gross margin expansion and selling and administrative expense leverage. Gross margin increased 90 basis points for the third quarter primarily due to higher average selling prices and favorable standard foreign currency exchange rates, partially offset by higher off-price mix, including higher closeout volumes in our DTC business. Selling and administrative expense was lower as a percent of revenues despite higher demand creation expense, as well as higher operating overhead costs to support DTC and overall growth.

EBIT increased 51% for the first nine months of fiscal 2015, a result of higher reported revenues, gross margin expansion and selling and administrative expense leverage. Gross margin expanded 210 basis points for the first nine months of fiscal 2015, primarily due to favorable standard foreign currency exchange rates and higher average selling prices due to a shift in mix to higher priced products, partially offset by higher product costs. Selling and administrative expense was lower as a percent of revenues despite higher operating overhead costs to support DTC and overall growth, as well as higher demand creation expense including support for the World Cup in the first quarter of fiscal 2015.

Central & Eastern Europe

•	Three Months Ended February 28,						Nine Months Ended February 28,						
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014	% Change		% Change Excluding Currency Changes		cluding rrency 2015		2014 % Change		% Change Excluding Currency Changes		
Revenues by:													
Footwear	\$187	\$207	-10	%	8	%	\$590	\$544	8	%	18	%	
Apparel	111	129	-14	%	4	%	394	403	-2	%	7	%	
Equipment	21	20	5	%	19	%	73	70	4	%	13	%	
TOTAL REVENUES	\$319	\$356	-10	%	7	%	\$1,057	\$1,017	4	%	13	%	
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES	\$51	\$79	-35	%			\$176	\$208	-15	%			

On a currency neutral basis, Central & Eastern Europe revenues increased 7% and 13% for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively. For the third quarter, revenues increased in most territories, but decreased in Turkey, Israel and Russia primarily due to import delays in Turkey and higher cancellations and discounts resulting from macroeconomic pressures in Israel and Russia. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, revenues increased in every territory except Israel. On a category basis, revenues for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 increased in most key categories, led by Sportswear, partially offset by a decline in Football (Soccer). For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, revenues increased in most key categories, led by Sportswear, Running and Women's Training.

The constant currency footwear revenue growth was driven by an increase in our Sportswear category for the third quarter and by Running, Sportswear and Football (Soccer) for the first nine months of fiscal 2015. Unit sales of footwear increased 3% for the third quarter, while average selling price per pair contributed approximately 5 percentage points of footwear revenue growth. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, unit sales of footwear increased 10% and average selling price per pair contributed approximately 8 percentage points of footwear revenue growth. The increase in average selling price per pair for both periods was driven by price increases in response to inflationary conditions in certain territories as well as a shift in mix to higher priced products.

Constant currency apparel revenue growth for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven by increases in most key categories, led by Sportswear, Running and Women's Training, partially offset by a decline in Football (Soccer). Unit sales of apparel for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 increased 4% and 6%, respectively, while changes in average selling price per unit were flat for the third quarter and contributed approximately 1 percentage point of apparel revenue growth for the first nine months of fiscal 2015. The increase in average selling price per unit for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 was due primarily to price increases in response to inflationary conditions in certain territories.

EBIT for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 decreased 35%, in part reflecting significant declines in foreign currency exchange rates. Reported revenue decreases and lower gross margin were only partially offset by selling and administrative expense leverage. Gross margin decreased 680 basis points for the third quarter as unfavorable standard foreign currency exchange rates and higher inventory obsolescence costs more than offset higher average selling prices, as well as lower product costs. Selling and administrative expense decreased as a percent of revenues, despite increases in demand creation and operating overhead to support DTC and overall growth.

EBIT for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 was also negatively impacted by translation, decreasing 15% as revenue growth was more than offset by lower gross margin, while selling and administrative expense was flat as a percent of revenues. Gross margin decreased 380 basis points as higher product costs and unfavorable standard foreign currency exchange rates more than offset higher average selling prices. Selling and administrative expense was flat as a percent of sales despite higher demand creation in the first quarter to support the World Cup and higher operating overhead costs to support growth initiatives.

Greater China

	Three Mo	onths Ende	ed February 28,	Nine Mo	nths Ended	February 28,
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014	% Change	2015	2014	% Change

Edgar Filing: NIKE INC - Form 10-Q

					% Chan Excludi Currenc Changes	ng :y					% Change	ding ncy
Revenues by:			• •	~		~			2.6	~		~
Footwear	\$562	\$467	20	%	22	%	\$1,465	\$1,166	26	%	27	%
Apparel	212	199	7	%	8	%	680	641	6	%	7	%
Equipment	27	31	-13	%	-4	%	93	93	0	%	3	%
TOTAL REVENUES	\$801	\$697	15	%	17	%	\$2,238	\$1,900	18	%	19	%
Revenues by:												
Sales to Wholesale Customers	\$579	\$545	6	%	8	%	\$1,651	\$1,503	10	%	11	%
Sales Direct to Consumer	222	152	46	%	51	%	587	397	48	%	50	%
TOTAL REVENUES	\$801	\$697	15	%	17	%	\$2,238	\$1,900	18	%	19	%
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES	\$251	\$234	7	%			\$727	\$601	21	%		
29												

Excluding changes in currency exchange rates, Greater China revenue growth for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven by strong results in our Sportswear, Basketball and Running categories. These increases were partially offset by declines in other categories, most notably Men's Training. DTC revenues grew 51% and 50% in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively. The growth in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven by strong comparable store sales growth of 29% and 28%, respectively, online sales growth and the addition of new stores.

The constant currency footwear revenue growth in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven primarily by Sportswear, Basketball and Running, partially offset by slight decreases in other categories. Unit sales of footwear increased 17% and 22% for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, while increases in average selling price per pair contributed approximately 5 percentage points of footwear revenue growth for each period. The increase in average selling price per pair for both periods was due primarily to an increase in the proportion of revenues from our higher priced DTC business.

Constant currency apparel revenue growth for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven primarily by increases in Sportswear, Basketball and Running, partially offset by decreases in other categories, primarily Football (Soccer) and Men's Training. For the third quarter, unit sales of apparel increased 9% while changes in average selling price per unit reduced apparel revenues by approximately 1 percentage point. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, unit sales of apparel increased 13% and changes in average selling price per unit reduced apparel revenues by approximately 6 percentage points. The decline in average selling price per unit for both periods was due primarily to shifts in mix to lower priced products, partially offset by increased revenues from our higher priced DTC business.

On a reported basis, EBIT increased 7% for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 as higher revenues and gross margin expansion were offset by higher selling and administrative expense. Gross margin expanded 140 basis points due primarily to higher average selling prices and growth in our higher margin DTC business, partially offset by higher product costs. For the third quarter, selling and administrative expense increased as a percent of revenues, primarily due to higher operating overhead to support DTC and overall growth, as well as higher demand creation expense, primarily as a result of increased sports marketing costs and expenses to enhance retail presentation at wholesale accounts.

EBIT for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 increased 21% as higher revenues and gross margin expansion more than offset higher selling and administrative expense. Gross margin expanded 260 basis points, due primarily to the favorable impact of our higher margin DTC business, higher average selling prices and favorable standard foreign currency exchange rates. Selling and administrative expense also increased for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 due to operating overhead investments to support growth initiatives, including DTC operations, as well as higher demand creation spending.

Japan

	Three Mo	onths Ende	d Februar	28,		Nine Months Ended February 28,							
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014	% Change		ange % Change Excluding Currency Changes		2015 2014		% Change		% Change Excluding Currency Changes		
Revenues by:													
Footwear	\$99	\$92	8	%	23	%	\$307	\$281	9	%	18	%	
Apparel	46	59	-22	%	-12	%	167	201	-17	%	-10	%	
Equipment	21	26	-19	%	-2	%	51	63	-19	%	-10	%	
TOTAL REVENUES	\$166	\$177	-6	%	8	%	\$525	\$545	-4	%	5	%	
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES	\$22	\$21	5	%			\$62	\$92	-33	%			

Constant currency revenues for Japan increased 8% and 5% in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, driven primarily by an increase in Sportswear, partially offset by declines in other categories.

On a reported basis, EBIT increased 5% for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 as lower revenue and gross margin were more than offset by selling and administrative expense leverage. Gross margin declined 50 basis points as unfavorable standard foreign currency exchange rates and higher product costs more than offset higher average selling prices and the favorable impact of our higher margin DTC business. Selling and administrative expense decreased, driven by lower demand creation due to the timing of key brand initiatives and slightly lower operating overhead expense. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, EBIT decreased 33% compared to the prior year period, reflecting the impact of the weaker Yen. Gross margin decreased 330 basis points, primarily due to the same drivers noted above for the third quarter. Selling and administrative expense increased as a percent of revenues as higher operating overhead, in part to support our expanding DTC business, was only partially offset by a decrease in demand creation expense.

Emerging Markets

	Three Mo	onths Ende	Nine Months Ended February 28,									
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014	% Change		% Change Excluding Currency Changes		2015 2014		% Change		% Change Excluding Currency Changes	
Revenues by:												
Footwear	\$655	\$631	4	%	14 %	o o	\$2,010	\$1,941	4	%	12	%
Apparel	240	243	-1	%	10 %	6	772	748	3	%	12	%
Equipment	60	63	-5	%	7 %	o o	182	180	1	%	10	%
TOTAL REVENUES	\$955	\$937	2	%	12 %	o	\$2,964	\$2,869	3	%	12	%
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES	\$234	\$228	3	%			\$626	\$681	-8	%		

On a currency neutral basis, revenue growth in the Emerging Markets geography for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven by increases in 8 of 9 territories. The growth was led by one of our largest territories, SOCO (which includes Argentina, Uruguay and Chile), which grew 36% and 35% for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, while Brazil grew only 3% and 5% for the respective periods, due to challenging macroeconomic conditions. These increases were partially offset by declines of 18% and 14% in Mexico revenues for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, as we continued to liquidate excess inventory in the marketplace resulting from an inconsistent flow of product to our customers following distribution center transition issues in early fiscal 2014. On a category basis, Emerging Markets revenues increased in most key categories for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, led by Sportswear, Running and Basketball, partially offset by a decline in Football (Soccer) for the third quarter.

The constant currency footwear revenue growth for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was led by growth in our Sportswear, Basketball, Running and Action Sports categories. Unit sales of footwear were flat overall for the third quarter and increased 1% for the first nine months of fiscal 2015, while increases in average selling price per pair contributed approximately 14 percentage points and 11 percentage points of footwear revenue growth for the respective periods. For both the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, the increase in average selling price per pair was primarily due to price increases in response to inflationary conditions in certain Latin American countries, particularly Argentina, as well as a shift in mix to higher priced products and the favorable impact of growth in our higher priced DTC business.

Constant currency apparel revenue growth for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015 was driven by growth in nearly every key category, most notably Sportswear, Running and Women's Training, partially offset by a decline in Football (Soccer). Unit sales of apparel increased 7% and 4% for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, while increases in average selling price per unit contributed approximately 3 percentage points and 8 percentage points of the increase in apparel revenues for the respective periods. The increase in average selling price per unit for the third quarter was primarily due to an increase in revenues from our higher priced DTC business. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, the increase in average selling price per unit was driven by an increase in revenues from our higher priced DTC business as well as price increases in response to inflationary conditions in certain Latin American countries.

EBIT increased 3% for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 as higher reported revenues and selling and administrative expense leverage more than offset lower gross margin. Gross margin decreased 60 basis points due to the impact of unfavorable standard foreign currency exchange rates and higher off-price mix, partially offset by higher average selling prices. Selling and administrative expense decreased compared to the prior year as higher operating overhead to support expanding DTC operations was more than offset by lower demand creation expense as a result of timing of product launches and brand initiatives in the prior year period leading up to the World Cup.

EBIT decreased 8% for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 as higher reported revenues were more than offset by lower gross margin and higher selling and administrative expense. Gross margin decreased 150 basis points due to the impact of unfavorable standard foreign currency exchange rates, higher off-price mix and higher product costs per

unit, partially offset by higher average selling prices and shifts in mix to higher priced products. Selling and administrative expense was higher as a result of increased operating overhead primarily due to expansion of our DTC business and infrastructure investments to support future growth. Demand creation expense increased as a result of support for the World Cup in the first quarter, as well as higher sports marketing costs.

Global Brand Divisions

	Three Months Ended February 28,					Nine Months Ended February 28,						
						% Change					% Chang	ge
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014		% Change		Excluding Currency	2015	2014	% Chang	70	Excludin	ıg
		2014				Currency		2014	70 Change		Currency	y
						Changes					Changes	j
Revenues	\$28	\$26	;	8	%	13 %	\$85	\$89	-4	%	-5	%
(Loss) Before Interest and Taxes	\$(552) \$(528) :	5 9	%		\$(1,637)	\$(1,444)	13	%		

Global Brand Divisions primarily represent demand creation, operating overhead, and product creation and design expenses that are centrally managed for the NIKE Brand. Revenues for Global Brand Divisions are primarily attributable to NIKE Brand licensing businesses that are not part of a geographic operating segment.

Global Brand Divisions' loss before interest and taxes increased for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015. The increase for the third quarter was primarily due to higher operating overhead reflecting continued investments in digital capabilities, consumer engagement and operational infrastructure to support growth, as well as higher performance based compensation. Demand creation expense for the third quarter was up slightly primarily due to support for key brand initiatives, partially offset by a decrease in sports marketing expense. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, the loss before interest and taxes was driven by higher operating overhead due to increased investments in infrastructure, including digital capabilities, consumer engagement and supply chain initiatives, as well as higher performance based compensation. Demand creation expense was higher due to support for the World Cup in the first quarter and key consumer events.

Converse

	Three Months Ended February 28,						Nine Months Ended February 28,						
					% Change	9					% Chan	ge	
(Dollars in millions)	2015	2014	%		Excluding	3	2015	2014	%		Excluding		
	2013	2014	Change		Currency		2013	2014	Change		Currency		
					Changes						Changes	s	
Revenues	\$538	\$420	28	%	33 %	%	\$1,547	\$1,274	21	%	24	%	
Earnings Before Interest and Taxes	\$163	\$133	23	%			\$437	\$402	9	%			

In territories we define as "direct distribution markets," Converse designs, markets and sells products directly to distributors and wholesale customers, and to consumers through DTC operations. The largest direct distribution markets are the United States, the United Kingdom and China. We do not own the Converse trademarks in Japan. Territories other than direct distribution markets and Japan are serviced by third-party licensees who pay royalty revenues to Converse for the use of its registered trademarks and other intellectual property rights. Excluding changes in currency exchange rates, revenues for Converse increased 33% for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 and 24% for the first nine months of fiscal 2015. Comparable direct distribution markets (i.e., markets served under a direct distribution model for comparable periods in the current and prior fiscal years), grew 29% and 17% for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, contributing 22 and 14 percentage points of total Converse revenue growth for the third quarter and first nine months, respectively. Comparable direct distribution market unit sales increased 26% and 16% for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, while average selling price per unit contributed approximately 3 percentage points for the third quarter and 1 percentage point for the first nine months of fiscal 2015. The United States market was the most significant contributor to the growth of comparable direct distribution markets, particularly in the third quarter due to the timing of shipments in advance of a major systems go-live in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015, and to a lesser extent, growth in DTC operations. Conversion of markets from licensed to direct distribution contributed 19 percentage points and 13 percentage points of total Converse revenue growth in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively. Revenues from comparable licensed markets decreased 37% and 20% in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, decreasing total Converse revenue growth by approximately 8 percentage points and 3 percentage points in the respective periods, due largely to business declines in Latin America. EBIT for Converse increased 23% for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 as strong revenue growth and selling and administrative expense leverage more than offset lower gross margin. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, EBIT increased 9% as higher reported revenues were partially offset by increased selling and administrative expense and lower gross margin. Gross margin decreased 190 basis points and 70 basis points in the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, respectively, with the decline in both periods primarily due to transitions of licensed markets to direct distribution markets. Selling and administrative expense increased for the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2015, primarily due to higher operating overhead costs to support growth and infrastructure investments, including DTC expansion and market transitions.

Corporate

Three Months Ended February 28, Nine Months Ended February 28, (Dollars in millions) 2015 2014 % Change 2015 2014 % Change

Revenues	\$(17)	\$(2)	_	\$(44) \$8		
(Loss) Before Interest and Taxes	\$(282)	\$(282)	0	% \$(799) \$(735) 9	%
Corporate revenues primarily consist of forei	on curren	CV	hedge ga	ins	and los	sses related to	revenues ge	enerated by	

Corporate revenues primarily consist of foreign currency hedge gains and losses related to revenues generated by entities within the NIKE Brand geographic operating segments and Converse, but managed through our central foreign exchange risk management program.

The Corporate loss before interest and taxes consists largely of unallocated general and administrative expenses, including expenses associated with centrally managed departments; depreciation and amortization related to our corporate headquarters; and unallocated insurance, benefit and compensation programs, including stock-based compensation; and certain foreign currency gains and losses.

In addition to the foreign currency gains and losses recognized in Corporate revenues, foreign currency results in Corporate include gains and losses resulting from the difference between actual foreign currency rates and standard rates used to record non-functional currency denominated product purchases within the NIKE Brand geographic operating segments and Converse; related foreign currency hedge results; conversion gains and losses arising from re-measurement of monetary assets and liabilities in non-functional currencies; and certain other foreign currency derivative instruments.

Table of Contents

Corporate's loss before interest and taxes was flat for the third quarter, but increased \$64 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2015. The changes compared to the respective prior year periods are primarily due to the following: An increase of \$44 million for the third quarter and \$150 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 in corporate overhead expense driven primarily by corporate initiatives to support the growth of the business and performance-based compensation.

An increase of \$12 million for the third quarter and a decrease of \$15 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 in foreign exchange losses related to the difference between actual foreign currency exchange rates and standard foreign currency exchange rates assigned to the NIKE Brand geographic operating segments and Converse, net of hedge gains and losses; these losses are reported as a component of consolidated gross margin.

A decrease of \$51 million in net foreign currency gains and losses resulting from a shift to a net gain from a net loss for the third quarter, and a \$67 million decrease in net foreign currency losses for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 reported as a component of consolidated Other (income) expense, net.

Foreign Currency Exposures and Hedging Practices

Overview

As a global company with significant operations outside the United States, in the normal course of business we are exposed to risk arising from changes in currency exchange rates. Our primary foreign currency exposures arise from the recording of transactions denominated in non-functional currencies and the translation of foreign currency denominated results of operations, financial position and cash flows into U.S. Dollars.

Our foreign exchange risk management program is intended to lessen both the positive and negative effects of currency fluctuations on our consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows. We manage global foreign exchange risk centrally on a portfolio basis to address those risks that are material to NIKE, Inc. We manage these exposures by taking advantage of natural offsets and currency correlations that exist within the portfolio and, where practical and material, by hedging a portion of the remaining exposures using derivative instruments such as forward contracts and options. As described below, the implementation of the NIKE Trading Company ("NTC") and our foreign currency adjustment program enhanced our ability to manage our foreign exchange risk by increasing the natural offsets and currency correlation benefits that exist within our portfolio of foreign exchange exposures. Our hedging policy is designed to partially or entirely offset the impact of exchange rate changes on the underlying net exposures being hedged. Where exposures are hedged, our program has the effect of delaying the impact of exchange rate movements on our Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements; the length of the delay is dependent upon hedge horizons. We do not hold or issue derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Transactional Exposures

We conduct business in various currencies and have transactions which subject us to foreign currency risk. Our most significant transactional foreign currency exposures are:

- Product Costs NIKE's product costs are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies in the following
- 1. Product purchases denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the transacting entity: Certain NIKE entities, including those supporting our North America, Greater China, Japan and European geographies, purchase product from the NTC, a wholly owned sourcing hub that buys NIKE branded products from a. third party factories, predominantly in U.S. Dollars. The NTC, whose functional currency is the U.S. Dollar, then
- sells the products to NIKE entities in their respective functional currencies. When the NTC sells to a NIKE entity with a different functional currency, the result is a foreign currency exposure for the NTC.
- Other NIKE entities purchase product directly from third-party factories in U.S. Dollars. These purchases generate a b. foreign currency exposure for those NIKE entities with a functional currency other than the U.S. Dollar. In both purchasing scenarios, a weaker U.S. Dollar reduces the inventory cost incurred by NIKE whereas a stronger U.S. Dollar increases its cost.
- 2. Factory input costs: NIKE operates a foreign currency adjustment program with certain factories. The program is designed to more effectively manage foreign currency risk by assuming certain of the factories' foreign currency exposures, some of which are natural offsets to our existing foreign currency exposures. Under this program, our payments to these factories are adjusted for rate fluctuations in the basket of

currencies ("factory currency exposure index") in which the labor, materials and overhead costs incurred by the factories in the production of NIKE branded products ("factory input costs") are denominated.

For the currency within the factory currency exposure indices that is the local or functional currency of the factory, the currency rate fluctuation affecting the product cost is recorded within Inventories and is recognized in Cost of sales when the related product is sold to a third party. All currencies within the indices, excluding the U.S. Dollar and the local or functional currency of the factory, are recognized as embedded derivative contracts and are recorded at fair value through Other (income) expense, net. Refer to Note 8 — Risk Management and Derivatives for additional detail. As an offset to the impacts of the fluctuating U.S. Dollar on our non-functional currency denominated product purchases described above, a strengthening U.S. Dollar against the foreign currencies within the factory currency exposure indices decreases NIKE's U.S. Dollar inventory cost. Conversely, a weakening U.S. Dollar against the indexed foreign currencies increases our inventory cost.

Non-Functional Currency Denominated External Sales — A portion of our Western Europe and Central & Eastern Europe geography revenues, as well as a portion of our Converse European operations revenues, are earned in currencies other than the Euro (e.g. the British Pound) but are recognized at a subsidiary that uses the Euro as its functional currency. These sales generate a foreign currency exposure.

Other Costs — Non-functional currency denominated costs, such as endorsement contracts, also generate foreign currency risk, though to a lesser extent.

Non-Functional Currency Denominated Monetary Assets and Liabilities — Our global subsidiaries have various assets and liabilities, primarily receivables and payables, including intercompany receivables and payables, denominated in currencies other than their functional currencies. These balance sheet items are subject to re-measurement which may create fluctuations in Other (income) expense, net within our consolidated results of operations.

Managing Transactional Exposures

Transactional exposures are managed on a portfolio basis within our foreign currency risk management program. We manage these exposures by taking advantage of natural offsets and currency correlations that exist within the portfolio and may also elect to use currency forward and option contracts to hedge the remaining effect of exchange rate fluctuations on probable forecasted future cash flows, including certain product cost exposures, non-functional currency denominated external sales and other costs described above. Generally, these are accounted for as cash flow hedges in accordance with the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging, except for hedges of the embedded derivatives component of the product cost exposures as discussed below.

Certain currency forward contracts used to manage the foreign exchange exposure of non-functional currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities subject to re-measurement and the embedded derivative contracts discussed above are not formally designated as hedging instruments under the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging. Accordingly, changes in fair value of these instruments are immediately recognized in Other (income) expense, net and are intended to offset the foreign currency impact of the re-measurement of the related non-functional currency denominated asset or liability or the embedded derivative contract being hedged.

Refer to Note 4 — Fair Value Measurements and Note 8 — Risk Management and Derivatives in the accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional description of how the above financial

instruments are valued and recorded as well as the fair value of outstanding derivatives at period end.

Translational Exposures

Many of our foreign subsidiaries operate in functional currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates create volatility in our reported results as we are required to translate the balance sheets, operational results and cash flows of these subsidiaries into U.S. Dollars for consolidated reporting. The translation of foreign subsidiaries' non-U.S. Dollar denominated balance sheets into U.S. Dollars for consolidated reporting results in a cumulative translation adjustment to Other comprehensive income within Shareholders' equity. In the translation of our Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income, a weaker U.S. Dollar in relation to foreign functional currencies benefits our consolidated earnings whereas a stronger U.S. Dollar reduces our consolidated earnings. The impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our consolidated Revenues was a detriment of approximately \$375 million and \$91 million for the three months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our Income before income taxes was a detriment of approximately \$73 million and \$12 million for the three months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our consolidated Revenues was a detriment of approximately \$560 million and \$158 million for the nine months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of our Income before income taxes was a detriment of approximately \$101 million and \$18 million for the nine months ended February 28, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Managing Translational Exposures

To minimize the impact of translating foreign currency denominated revenues and expenses into U.S. Dollars for consolidated reporting, certain foreign subsidiaries use excess cash to purchase U.S. Dollar denominated available-for-sale investments. The variable future cash flows associated with the purchase and subsequent sale of these U.S. Dollar denominated securities at non-U.S. Dollar functional currency subsidiaries creates a foreign currency exposure that qualifies for hedge accounting under the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging. We

utilize forward contracts and/or options to mitigate the variability of the forecasted future purchases and sales of these U.S. Dollar investments. The combination of the purchase and sale of the U.S. Dollar investment and the hedging instrument has the effect of partially offsetting the year-over-year foreign currency translation impact on net earnings in the period the investments are sold. Hedges of available-for-sale investments are accounted for as cash flow hedges. Refer to Note 4 — Fair Value Measurements and Note 8 — Risk Management and Derivatives in the accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional description of how the above financial instruments are valued and recorded as well as the fair value of outstanding derivatives at period end.

We estimate the combination of translation of foreign currency-denominated profits from our international businesses and the year-over-year change in foreign currency related gains and losses included in Other (income) expense, net had an unfavorable impact of approximately \$20 million and \$27 million on our Income before income taxes for the for the three and nine month periods ended February 28, 2015, respectively.

Net Investments in Foreign Subsidiaries

We are also exposed to the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations on our investments in wholly owned foreign subsidiaries denominated in a currency other than the U.S. Dollar, which could adversely impact the U.S. Dollar value of these investments and therefore the value of future repatriated earnings. We have, in the past, hedged and may, in the future, hedge net investment positions in certain foreign subsidiaries to mitigate the effects of foreign exchange fluctuations on these net investments. These hedges are accounted for in accordance with the accounting standards for net investment hedges. There were no outstanding net investment hedges as of February 28, 2015 and 2014. There were no cash flows from net investment hedge settlements for the three or nine month periods ended February 28, 2015 and 2014.

Table of Contents

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flow Activity

Our primary source of operating cash flow for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 was net income of \$2,408 million. Cash provided by operations was \$3,338 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 compared to \$1,685 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2014, primarily due to increased earnings and lower investments in working capital as compared to the prior year. For the first nine months of fiscal 2015, changes in working capital resulted in a cash outflow of \$145 million compared to an outflow of \$875 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2014. The increase in working capital was lower than the comparable prior year period as increased Inventories as a result of business growth and a decrease in Income taxes payable were largely offset by an increase in Accrued liabilities resulting from the receipt of \$769 million of cash collateral from counterparties as a result of hedging activity. The decrease in Income taxes payable is primarily a result of tax payments made in the first nine months of fiscal 2015, including payments related to a U.S. Unilateral Advanced Pricing Agreement reached with the IRS in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014.

Cash used by investing activities was \$382 million during the first nine months of fiscal 2015 and \$1,231 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2014. The primary driver of the decrease in cash used by investing activities was the net change in short-term investments (including sales, maturities and purchases) from net purchases to net sales/maturities. In the first nine months of fiscal 2015, there were \$588 million of net sales/maturities compared to \$561 million in net purchases for the same period in fiscal 2014, the latter reflecting purchases of short-term investments with the proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt in April 2013.

Cash used by financing activities was \$2,095 million for the first nine months of fiscal 2015 compared to \$1,917 million for the same prior year period. The increase in cash used by financing activities was primarily driven by increased common stock repurchases and dividends paid in the first nine months of fiscal 2015 compared to the first nine months of fiscal 2014.

During the first nine months of fiscal 2015, we purchased 22.2 million shares of NIKE Class B Common Stock for \$1,855 million (an average price of \$83.52 per share) as part of our four-year, \$8 billion share repurchase program approved by the Board of Directors in September 2012. As of the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2015, we had repurchased a total of 74.1 million shares at a cost of \$5,272 million (an average price of \$71.13 per share) under this program. We continue to expect funding of share repurchases will come from operating cash flow, excess cash or debt. The timing and the amount of shares purchased will be dictated by our capital needs and stock market conditions.

Capital Resources

On April 23, 2013, we filed a shelf registration statement (the "Shelf") with the SEC which permits us to issue an unlimited amount of debt securities. The Shelf expires on April 23, 2016. Also on April 23, 2013, we issued \$1.0 billion of senior notes with tranches maturing in 2023 and 2043. The 2023 senior notes were issued in an initial aggregate principal amount of \$500 million at a 2.25% fixed, annual interest rate and will mature on May 1, 2023. The 2043 senior notes were issued in an initial aggregate principal amount of \$500 million at a 3.625% fixed, annual interest rate and will mature on May 1, 2043. Interest on the senior notes is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 of each year. The issuance resulted in gross proceeds before expenses of \$998 million.

On November 1, 2011, we entered into a committed credit facility agreement with a syndicate of banks which

On November 1, 2011, we entered into a committed credit facility agreement with a syndicate of banks which provides for up to \$1 billion of borrowings with the option to increase borrowings to \$1.5 billion with lender approval. The facility matures November 1, 2017. As of and for the period ended February 28, 2015, we had no amounts outstanding under our committed credit facility.

We currently have long-term debt ratings of AA- and A1 from Standard and Poor's Corporation and Moody's Investor Services, respectively. If our long-term debt rating were to decline, the facility fee and interest rate under our committed credit facility would increase. Conversely, if our long-term debt rating were to improve, the facility fee and interest rate would decrease. Changes in our long-term debt rating would not trigger acceleration of maturity of any then-outstanding borrowings or any future borrowings under the committed credit facility. Under this committed revolving credit facility, we have agreed to various covenants. These covenants include limits on our disposal of fixed assets and the amount of debt secured by liens we may incur, as well as a minimum capitalization ratio. In the event

we were to have any borrowings outstanding under this facility and failed to meet any covenant, and were unable to obtain a waiver from a majority of the banks in the syndicate, any borrowings would become immediately due and payable. As of February 28, 2015, we were in full compliance with each of these covenants and believe it is unlikely we will fail to meet any of these covenants in the foreseeable future.

Liquidity is also provided by our \$1 billion commercial paper program. During the three months ended February 28, 2015, we did not issue commercial paper, and as of February 28, 2015, there were no outstanding borrowings under this program. We may issue commercial paper or other debt securities during fiscal 2015 depending on general corporate needs. We currently have short-term debt ratings of A1+ and P1 from Standard and Poor's Corporation and Moody's Investor Services, respectively.

As of February 28, 2015, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling \$5.4 billion, of which \$3.5 billion was held by our foreign subsidiaries. Included in Cash and equivalents as of February 28, 2015 was \$769 million of cash collateral received from counterparties as a result of hedging activity. Cash equivalents and short-term investments consist primarily of deposits held at major banks, money market funds, commercial paper, corporate notes, U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S. government sponsored enterprise obligations and other investment grade fixed-income securities. Our fixed-income investments are exposed to both credit and interest rate risk. All of our investments are investment grade to minimize our credit risk. While individual securities have varying durations, as of February 28, 2015, the average duration of our cash equivalents and short-term investments portfolio was 101 days. To date we have not experienced difficulty accessing the credit markets or incurred higher interest costs. Future volatility in the capital markets, however, may increase costs associated with issuing commercial paper or other debt instruments or affect our ability to access those markets. We believe that existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and cash generated by operations, together with access to external sources of funds as described above, will be sufficient to meet our domestic and foreign capital needs in the foreseeable future.

We utilize a variety of tax planning and financing strategies to manage our worldwide cash and deploy funds to locations where they are needed. We routinely repatriate a portion of our foreign earnings for which U.S. taxes have previously been provided. We also indefinitely reinvest a significant portion of our foreign earnings, and our current plans do not demonstrate a need to repatriate these earnings. Should we require additional capital in the United States, we may elect to repatriate indefinitely reinvested foreign funds or raise capital in the United States through debt. If we were to repatriate indefinitely reinvested foreign funds, we would be required to accrue and pay additional U.S. taxes less applicable foreign tax credits. If we elect to raise capital in the United States through debt, we would incur additional interest expense.

Contractual Obligations

Description of

As a result of renewals of and additions to endorsement contracts and other contractual obligations, cash payments due for these obligations have changed significantly from what was previously reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2014.

Other contractual obligations as of February 28, 2015 and significant endorsement contracts entered into through the date of this report are as follows:

Description of Commitment	Cash Payments Due During the Year Ended May 31,								
(In millions)	Remainder of 2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	Thereafter	Total		
Endorsement Contracts ⁽¹⁾	\$226	\$880	\$827	\$742	\$616	\$1,881	\$5,172		
Other ⁽²⁾	\$171	\$171	\$148	\$50	\$47	\$20	\$607		

The amounts listed for endorsement contracts represent approximate amounts of base compensation and minimum guaranteed royalty fees we are obligated to pay athlete and sport team endorsers of our products. Actual payments under some contracts may be higher than the amounts listed as these contracts provide for bonuses to be paid to the endorsers based upon athletic achievements and/or royalties on product sales in future periods. Actual payments under some contracts may also be lower as these contracts include provisions for reduced payments if athletic performance declines in future periods.

In addition to the cash payments, we are obligated to furnish our endorsers with NIKE product for their use. It is not possible to determine how much we will spend on this product on an annual basis as the contracts generally do not stipulate a specific amount of cash to be spent on the product. The amount of product provided to the endorsers will depend on many factors, including general playing conditions, the number of sporting events in which they participate, and our own decisions regarding product and marketing initiatives. In addition, the costs to design, develop, source, and purchase the products furnished to the endorsers are incurred over a period of time and are not necessarily tracked separately from similar costs incurred for products sold to customers.

Other amounts primarily include service and marketing commitments made in the ordinary course of business. The amounts represent the minimum payments required by legally binding contracts and agreements that specify all

(2) significant terms, including open purchase orders for non-product purchases. The reported amounts exclude those liabilities included in Accounts payable or Accrued liabilities on the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of February 28, 2015.

Other than the changes reported above, there have been no significant changes to the contractual obligations reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of February 28, 2015, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued an accounting standards update that replaces existing revenue recognition guidance. Among other things, the updated guidance requires companies to recognize revenue in a way that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new

guidance is effective for us beginning June 1, 2017 and early adoption is not permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect the guidance will have on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We believe that the estimates, assumptions and judgments involved in the accounting policies described in the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" section of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K have the greatest potential impact on our financial statements, so we consider these to be our critical accounting policies. Actual results could differ from the estimates we use in applying our critical accounting policies. We are not currently aware of any reasonably likely events or circumstances that would result in materially different amounts being reported.

ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Other than the items noted below, there have been no material changes from the information previously reported under Part II, Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014.

We use the Value-at-Risk ("VaR") model to monitor the foreign exchange risk of our foreign currency forward and foreign currency option derivative instruments. The VaR model determines the maximum potential one-day loss in the fair value of these foreign exchange rate-sensitive financial instruments assuming normal market conditions and a 95% confidence level. Since May 31, 2014, increases in the total notional amount and weighted average duration of our foreign currency derivative instruments as well as increases in foreign currency volatilities have resulted in an increased estimated maximum one-day loss in fair value of \$74 million as of February 28, 2015 as compared to \$50 million as of May 31, 2014. This hypothetical loss in fair value of our derivatives would be offset by increases in the value of the underlying transactions being hedged. The average monthly change in the net fair values of foreign currency forward and foreign currency option derivatives instruments was \$163 million for the nine months ended February 28, 2015 compared with \$70 million for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014. The VaR model is a risk analysis tool and does not purport to represent actual losses in fair value that we will incur nor does it consider the potential effect of favorable changes in market rates. Actual future gains and losses will differ from and could exceed those estimates because of changes or differences in market rates and interrelationships, hedging instruments and hedge percentages, timing and other factors.

Changes regarding interest rate risk from the information previously reported under Part II, Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014 are as follows:

•	Expected N Year Endin		•		e									
(Dollars in millions)	Remainder of 2015	•	2016		2017	7	2018	3	2019)	There	eafter	Total	Fair Value
Interest Rate Risk														
Anticipated long-term U.S. Dollar														
debt issuance - Floating rate														
swapped to fixed rate														
Notional ⁽¹⁾	\$ —		\$750		\$		\$ —		\$		\$ —		\$750	\$44
Weighted-average fixed rate	0.0	%	2.3	%	0.0	%	0.0	%	0.0	%	0.0	%		
Weighted-average floating rate	0.0	%	0.3	%	0.0	%	0.0	%	0.0	%	0.0	%		
Forward-starting interest rate sw	zans have he	en	includ	led	in the	m	aturiti	es c	atego	rv l	ased o	n whe	n the re	lated

⁽¹⁾ Forward-starting interest rate swaps have been included in the maturities category based on when the related hedged forecasted debt issuance and corresponding swap terminations are expected to occur.

ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("the Exchange Act") reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

We carry out a variety of ongoing procedures under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to evaluate the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of February 28, 2015.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Analyst Reports

Certain written and oral statements, other than purely historical information, including estimates, projections, statements relating to NIKE's business plans, objectives and expected operating results, and the assumptions upon which those statements are based, made or incorporated by reference from time to time by NIKE or its representatives in this report, other reports, filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, press releases, conferences, or otherwise, are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, any statement that may predict, forecast, indicate, or imply future results, performance, or achievements, and may contain the words "believe," "anticipate," "expect," "estimate," "project," "will be," "will continue," "will likely result words or phrases of similar meaning. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements. The risks and uncertainties are detailed from time to time in reports filed by NIKE with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including Forms 8-K, 10-O and 10-K, and include, among others, the following: international, national and local general economic and market conditions; the size and growth of the overall athletic footwear, apparel and equipment markets; intense competition among designers, marketers, distributors and sellers of athletic footwear, apparel and equipment for consumers and endorsers; demographic changes; changes in consumer preferences; popularity of particular designs, categories of products and sports; seasonal and geographic demand for NIKE products; difficulties in anticipating or forecasting changes in consumer preferences, consumer demand for NIKE products and the various market factors described above; difficulties in implementing, operating and maintaining NIKE's increasingly complex information systems and controls, including, without limitation, the systems related to demand and supply planning, and inventory control; interruptions in data and information technology systems; data security; fluctuations and difficulty in forecasting operating results, including, without limitation, the fact that advance futures orders may not be indicative of future revenues due to changes in shipment timing, the changing mix of futures and at-once orders, and discounts, order cancellations and returns; the ability of NIKE to sustain, manage or forecast its growth and inventories; the size, timing and mix of purchases of NIKE's products; increases in the cost of materials, labor and energy used to manufacture products, new product development and introduction; the ability to secure and protect trademarks, patents and other intellectual property; product performance and quality; customer service; adverse publicity; the loss of significant customers or suppliers; dependence on distributors and licensees; business disruptions; increased costs of freight and transportation to meet delivery deadlines; increases in borrowing costs due to any decline in our debt ratings; changes in business strategy or development plans; general risks associated with doing business outside the United States, including, without limitation, exchange rate fluctuations, import duties, tariffs, quotas, political and economic instability, and terrorism; changes in government regulations; the impact of, including business and legal developments relating to, climate change; natural disasters; liability and other claims asserted against NIKE; the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel; the effects of our decision to invest in or divest of businesses; and other factors referenced or incorporated by reference in this report and other reports.

The risks included here are not exhaustive. Other sections of this report may include additional factors which could adversely affect NIKE's business and financial performance. Moreover, NIKE operates in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors emerge from time to time and it is not possible for management to predict all such risk factors, nor can it assess the impact of all such risk factors on NIKE's business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.

Investors should also be aware that while NIKE does, from time to time, communicate with securities analysts, it is against NIKE's policy to disclose to them any material non-public information or other confidential commercial information. Accordingly, shareholders should not assume that NIKE agrees with any statement or report issued by any analyst irrespective of the content of the statement or report. Furthermore, NIKE has a policy against issuing or confirming financial forecasts or projections issued by others. Thus, to the extent that reports issued by securities analysts contain any projections, forecasts or opinions, such reports are not the responsibility of NIKE.

Table of Contents

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings

There have been no material developments with respect to the information previously reported under Part I, Item 3 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014.

ITEM 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table presents a summary of share repurchases made by NIKE during the quarter ended February 28, 2015 under the four-year, \$8 billion share repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors in September 2012. As of the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2015, we had repurchased 74.1 million shares at an average price of \$71.13 for a total approximate cost of \$5.3 billion under this program.

				Maximum Number
			Total Number of Shares	s (or Approximate Dollar
Period	Total Number of	Average Price	Purchased as Part of	Value) of Shares
1 CHOU	Shares Purchased	Paid per Share	Publicly Announced	that May Yet Be Purchased
			Plans or Programs ⁽¹⁾	Under the Plans
				or Programs (In millions)
December 1 — December 31	'508 007	\$95.00	508,997	\$3,291
2014	300,997	\$93.00	300,997	\$3,291
January 1 — January 31, 201	52,476,930	\$94.37	2,476,930	\$3,058
February 1 — February 28,	3,550,000	\$92.90	3,550,000	\$2,728
2015	3,330,000	\$92.90	3,330,000	\$2,720
	6,535,927	\$93.62	6,535,927	

On September 19, 2012, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of \$8 billion of our (1) shares of Class B Common Stock under a four-year share repurchase program. We intend to use available cash and future cash from operations to fund repurchases under the share repurchase program.

ITEM 6. Exhibits

(a) EXHIBITS:

3.1	Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to									
	the Company's Quarterly Report on form 10-Q filed January 9, 2013).									
3.2	Third Restated Bylaws, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the									
5.2	Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 21, 2013).									
4.1	Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (see Exhibit 3.1).									
4.2	Third Restated Bylaws, as amended (see Exhibit 3.2).									
31.1†	Rule 13(a)-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.									
31.2†	Rule 13(a)-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.									
32.1†	Section 1350 Certificate of Chief Executive Officer.									
32.2†	Section 1350 Certificate of Chief Financial Officer.									
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document.									
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.									
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.									
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.									
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.									
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.									
† Furnished her	rewith									

Table of Contents

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NIKE, Inc. an Oregon Corporation

/S/ DONALD W. BLAIR Donald W. Blair Chief Financial Officer and Authorized Officer

DATED: April 7, 2015

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

3.1	Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on form 10-Q filed January 9, 2013).
3.2	Third Restated Bylaws, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
3.2	Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 21, 2013).
4.1	Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (see Exhibit 3.1).
4.2	Third Restated Bylaws, as amended (see Exhibit 3.2).
31.1†	Rule 13(a)-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
31.2†	Rule 13(a)-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
32.1†	Section 1350 Certificate of Chief Executive Officer.
32.2†	Section 1350 Certificate of Chief Financial Officer.
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

† Furnished herewith